
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee
Agenda

Monday 25 March 2019
7.00 pm

Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration Opposition
Councillor Alan De'Ath (Chair)
Councillor Lucy Richardson
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson
Councillor Asif Siddique

Councillor Mark Loveday

Co-optees
Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative
Vic Daniels, Parent Governor Representative
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative

CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott
Scrutiny Manager
Governance and Scrutiny
Tel 020 8753 2063
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk

Note: This meeting is open to members of the public. A loop system for hearing 
impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the building.

Date Issued: 18 March 2019



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee

Agenda
25 March 2019

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES 4 - 13
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 January 
2019.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  

4.  SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018 14 - 28
This report gives an overview of the outcomes of the Summer 2018 
assessments and examinations in the borough’s primary and secondary 
schools, and the current position with regard to Ofsted school 
inspections.



5.  SCHOOL ORGANISATION STRATEGY 2019 29 - 95
This report presents the draft school organisation strategy 2019 that 
provides the Council, schools, and residents with a five-year strategic 
plan on the delivery of school places through all phases across 
Hammersmith and Fulham.   



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee
Minutes

Monday 28 January 2019

PRESENT

Committee members: Councillors Alan De'Ath (Chair), Lucy Richardson, 
Alexandra Sanderson, Asif Siddique and Mark Loveday

Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nandini 
Ganesh (Parentsactive Representative), Matt Jenkins (Teacher Representative) and 
Nadia Taylor (Parent Governor Representative)

Officers: Kim Dero (Chief Executive), Steve Miley (Director for Children's Services), 
Bev Sharpe (Assistant Director for Family Services), Mandy Lawson (Assistant 
Director of SEND), Tony Burton (Head of Finance, Children's Services), Kevin 
Gordon (Head of Assets Operations Programmes), David Abbott (Scrutiny Manager)

1. MINUTES 

Matt Jenkins noted that the reference on page 5 to the 'National Union of Teachers' 
should be changed to the 'National Education Union'.

Matt Jenkins asked if the '500 youth organisations' working in Hammersmith & 
Fulham (Page 6) were coordinated by the Council. Officers said most were already 
known to the Council and there was ongoing work being done to collate information 
on the groups for signposting purposes.

Denis Charman said he had taken the topic of youth violence and knife crime back to 
schools and reported that there was genuine interest amongst support staff to input 
into a broader strategy. Steve Miley (Director for Children’s Services) said there was 
an opportunity for all sectors to shape the Council's response. It was recognised that 
support staff were sometimes overlooked but they had a valuable contribution to 
make.

RESOLVED
With the correction noted above, the minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 
November 2018 were approved as a correct record and were signed by the Chair.

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Larry Culhane (Cabinet 
Member for Children and Education), Vic Daniels (Co-opted Member), and Jan 
Parnell (Assistant Director for Education).

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

4. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT 

Bev Sharpe (Assistant Director for Family Services) presented the report that 
highlighted the significant responsibilities the local authority has in relation to looked 
after children (LAC) and care leavers and how it discharged those responsibilities.

Bev Sharpe noted that the number of looked after children had increased nationally 
by 8.75% since 2014 to 75,420. During the same 4-year period, numbers in 
Hammersmith and Fulham had increased by 12.7% to 230 – equivalent to 64 per 
10,000 of the child population. Since the report was written these numbers had 
increased further to 245. In response to these increases the Council had invested in 
the Family Assist and LAC Assist teams and they were working hard on placement 
stability. There had also been a sharp increase in care leavers due to 2017 
legislation that gave councils a duty to support care leavers up to the age of 25.

The Chair asked why there had been such a significant increase in the number of 
looked after children in recent years. Bev Sharpe said there was a range of factors – 
austerity, older children were entering the system. Steve Miley (Director for 
Children’s Services) said he had noticed a change – traditional social work was 
about protecting children within the family (mental health, domestic violence, drugs 
and alcohol etc.) but now on top of that there was also the influence of peers, people 
being exploited or pushed into dangerous behaviours like drugs and knife crime. 
Rather than just having to deal with a family the problems were shaped by the whole 
community. In response to this the Council was thinking about how to reshape its 
services to be more effective. This was an issue across the Country and Councils 
were talking about 'contextual safeguarding' - going beyond just the family.

Matt Jenkins asked if the Council received any additional support from Government 
given the increase in looked after children. Steve Miley said there was no additional 
support. The entire cost was borne by the Council.

Councillor Alexandra Sanderson asked about the gender ratio of children coming 
into care – why were there almost twice as many boys as girls? Bev Sharpe said the 
difference was largely due to the number of older teenage boys coming into care 
system.

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Councillor Sanderson noted the number of placement moves of three or above had 
gone up (page 15) - she asked if this was a trend and what more the Council could 
do to bring this number down. Bev Sharpe said officers were looking at what more 
they could do to support carers. Social workers did try to place children with in-house 
foster carers where possible.

Councillor Sanderson noted only 4 children were adopted in both 2016-17 and 2017-
18. She asked how many children were eligible for adoption during those periods. 
Bev Sharpe said adoption numbers were very low across the Country due to 
Government legislation that requires Councils to explore every option for keeping 
babies within the family. That has meant fewer young children being placed for 
adoptions.

Councillor Sanderson then moved on to CAMHS (9.3 and 9.4 of the report) - she 
asked if there were challenges with people moving out of borough and losing 
support. Bev Sharpe said there was and that had always been a problem for the 
service. Looked after children do have CAMHS support that will follow a young 
person if they move but long-term support should be secured through a local GP and 
it can be very hard to get young people into local services because the waiting lists 
are so long.

Councillor Lucy Richardson asked what services the Council offers to 18-25 year 
olds. She noted that employment figures and apprenticeship figures were down – 
and asked was the Council doing anything to address those issues? Did the Council 
track outcomes? Bev Sharpe noted that H&F had a very ambitious 'virtual school' 
(led by Amelia Steele) that was working to develop apprenticeship opportunities. She 
was confident those numbers have improved since the report was written. Steve 
Miley added that the figures related to a small cohort, so percentages were swayed 
by very small movements. There was still more to do on non-academic pathways 
though.

Councillor Richardson asked for more information on the Council's plans for housing 
foster carers locally. Steve Miley said this was a challenge due to the borough's 
accommodation profile. Many fostering applicants don’t have spare bedrooms for 
example. Bev Sharpe added that the Council was currently looking at a scheme to 
lend money for home improvements to foster carers. In addition, officers were 
bidding for funding from the Mayor's Office for housing schemes. The Council also 
had a contract with Centrepoint for 72 beds in borough for young people of 18 years 
and above.

Councillor Asif Siddique asked if there were any limits on the number of children that 
the Council could take into care in any given year, given the department's limited 
budget. Bev Sharpe said while they did have a fixed budget, Children's Services 
would always provide support where there was a child or family in need. The 
department tried to keep costs down where possible by looking at kinship carers and 
in-house placements. The biggest pressures on the department's budget were 
commissioned independent foster carer agency places or residential placements.

Councillor Mark Loveday noted that there were 230 looked after children in total and 
of them, 72 percent were in foster placements – mostly out of the borough, and a 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

very small number were in adoption. He asked where the remainder were placed? 
Steve Miley said the other young people were in semi-independent accommodation. 
That was a stepping stone from family-based care to living on their own in their own 
property. Councillor Loveday asked how the 72 Centrepoint beds fitted in. Bev 
Sharpe said they were for young people aged 16-18 years old and care leavers – 
young people for whom the Council had a parenting responsibility.

Councillor Loveday asked where the residential care placements were – were they 
out of the borough?  Steve Miley said they were spread across the Country - Kent, 
the North of England, Scotland. There was a shortage of placements for hard-to-
place young people. Children's Services were working with Commissioning 
colleagues to find the most appropriate placements.

Councillor Loveday noted that in the past, members of the Committee would have 
visited these placements to ensure they were up to standard – but this couldn't be 
done anymore given they were so far away. Officers assured members that there 
were independent visitors who carried out safeguarding visits.

Councillor Loveday, looking at page 12 of the report, noted that the number of looked 
after children categorised as 'citizens' had remained roughly stable going back to 
2014 but there had been significant increases in UASC from 2014 to 2015 – then 
continuing on in 2016, 2017, and 2018. He asked if this picture was similar going 
further back, beyond 2014. Steve Miley said going back the 'citizen' number was 
much higher. 10 years ago, it was in the 400s (as compared with 197 in 2018). 
UASC numbers have fluctuated. There has been a genuine pressure in numbers on 
London as a whole. All councils in London took a percent of the UASC population 
but proposals to share the number across the Country didn't happen so the pressure 
has been greater.

Councillor Loveday noted the additional 15 UASC 'Dubs' children that were separate 
to the Home Office allocation. He asked why the report stated the Home Office 
allocation should have been 25 but the table on page 12 showed 33 including 1 
Dubs child. Steve Miley said it was possible for the Council to go above the threshold 
if, for example, an asylum seeker turned up at the police station in Shepherd’s Bush 
they would become H&F's responsibility. 

Nandini Ganesh asked if the Council assessed UASC children for special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) - and how they tracked people with SEND 
beyond the age of 25. Mandy Lawson (Assistant Director of SEND) said UASC 
children were not treated any differently to any other child entering care. They would 
be allocated virtual school help, go through the usual processes of assessments and 
support. If they had SEND needs they would be introduced to the disabled children’s 
team. Care leavers had two pathways - if they are able to live independently they go 
through the standard care leavers pathway – if not they would be referred to Adult 
Social Care.

Councillor Sanderson noted that she was proud of H&F for sending social workers 
out to the Calais migrant camps and supporting the children there.

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Councillor Sanderson noted the amazing outcomes in 10.3 of the report, including 
young people winning places to study at Cambridge and Central St. Martins. She 
asked if there was support for those young people while they were at University, like 
peer-to-peer support? And did care leavers who have achieved great things come 
back and inspire the next generation of care leavers? Bev Sharpe assured members 
that there was support available. She also noted that a care leaver who is currently 
qualifying to be a doctor is developing a mentoring scheme for care leavers.

Councillor Sanderson noted the figure of 4 percent of care leavers in custody (13.4 
of the report). She asked if that meant they were in prison or if it included those on 
remand. She also asked how this compared with national figures. Bev Sharpe 
responded that H&F's custody rates were very good. The looked after children and 
youth offending teams worked very closely together to keep those figures low.

The Chair drew attention to the fact that H&F was the first Council to introduce 
Council Tax exemptions for care leavers (13.5 of the report). Since the introduction 
in April 2017, another 35 Councils have implemented the same scheme.

Kim Dero (Chief Executive) asked why children identified as having a black and / or 
minority ethnic background accounted for 41% of Looked After Children in 2017-18. 
Steve Miley said the figures reflected the social make-up of the borough.

The Chair asked how successful the Council had been in recruiting diverse foster 
carers. Bev Sharpe said they did have very diverse group of foster carers and social 
worker tried to carefully match cultural backgrounds.

Nandini Ganesh asked if a child with complex behaviours was kept in care overnight 
– would they be classified as 'looked after'. Steve Miley said that wouldn't 
automatically mean they were 'looked after' – the definition was 75 nights in one 
year, or 17 nights in row to be classified as 'looked after'. Otherwise they would be 
considered a 'child in need'.

Councillor Sanderson asked what support kinship carers would get from the 
Council? Bev Sharpe said they would receive fostering support, join support groups, 
get social worker visits etc. Councillor Sanderson asked if the support groups had 
crèches. Bev Sharpe said they didn't, but all carers were encouraged to have a 
support carer - who would be checked by social workers and the police – who could 
look after the children while the main carer is out.

The Chair asked how the assessment of Corporate Parenting was measured. What 
could the Committee do to hold the Council to account in this area? Bev Sharpe said 
there was a Corporate Parenting Board and a steering group. They were also 
looking to set up an advisory board so young people could be more involved in the 
planning process. Officers gave young people the opportunity to provide feedback on 
their services and support through regular consultations that there reported to the 
Board.

Councillor Loveday noted this was a challenge given that the majority of young 
people were now out of the borough. Officers said they all have an allocated social 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

worker and see them regularly. The department's aim was that all looked after 
children received the same level of service, in or out of the borough.

The Chair though it would be good for the Committee to look into this area further 
and see if any improvements could be made. Bev Sharpe said there was definitely 
still development work to do – i.e. how can we engage with other departments better 
(apprenticeships, Housing etc.).

The Chair noted the educational attainment figures in the report but said it would be 
more useful to know the figures on progress. Bev Sharpe said the virtual school did 
track this data and could provide the figures. Steve Miley added that all of the 
national research showed that children’s attainment improves through care.

ACTION: Bev Sharpe

Eleanor Allen asked for figures on special guardianship orders – for those who were 
no longer in care but where the Council continued to provide support. Steve Miley 
noted that these had now exceeded adoption numbers, it was an important pathway 
out of care. He said he could provide figures outside of the meeting.

ACTION: Steve Miley

RESOLVED
The Committee commented on and noted the report.

5. 2019 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

Tony Burton (Head of Finance, Children's Services) presented the report that set out 
the budget proposals for the Children's Services and provided an update on 
proposed changes in fees and charges.

Steve Miley (Director for Children's Services) noted that the department’s approach 
to identifying potential savings had been consistent with the vision for Children’s 
Services which was:

‘To improve the lives and life chances of our children and young people; intervene 
early to give the best start in life and promote wellbeing; ensure children and young 
people are protected from harm; and that all children have access to an excellent 
education and achieve their potential. All of this will be done whilst reducing costs 
and improving service effectiveness.’

Tony Burton gave a presentation on the budget and highlighted the following points:
 Children's Services net expenditure was £33m.
 The total budget was £126.7m including £92m of income (mainly from the 

Dedicated Schools Grant) and other grants of £33.9m.
 The Family Services budget was £30m and this included significant growth in 

the areas of placement spend on looked after children and care leavers and to 
enable the social care team to respond to Increased demand pressures.

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

 There was still a lot of uncertainty for schools around education funding and 
they had seen significant pressures on their budgets in recent years.

 The high needs block deficit was the single most concerning financial 
pressure for Children's Services. To tackle it the department was looking to 
deliver services that meet children's needs at lower levels and keep more 
children in mainstream schools.

Nandini Ganesh commented that many schools didn't understand how to support 
children with SEND issues. Officers said they were working closely with schools to 
improve the support on offer. Inclusion was a key priority for the service going 
forward. The Council had to reshape its services to help mainstream schools with 
inclusion. Denise Fox (Headteacher of Fulham College Girls) said Alternate 
Provision used to be what happened in mainstream schools. There used to be ways 
of managing children within the school but now it was all external and provided at 
greater cost. Schools and the Council needed to find ways of providing Alternate 
Provision in different ways.

Matt Jenkins asked if there was any additional support the Council could offer to 
schools. Steve Miley said the Council recognised that the increase in funding from 
the Government didn't cover the cost pressures schools faced and they were in a 
really challenging financial situation. He had asked schools how they were managing 
and they all said they were looking at ways of reducing staffing - which had a real 
impact on them. As the Council was also facing significant cost pressures it couldn't 
give schools additional funding - but officers were looking at ways to work together 
and share costs, share support, look at ways to increase the income for schools, and 
fill school places where rolls were low.

Officers were also working on a proposal to rebuild some schools in the borough - 
improving the educational environment for children and bring in funding to help the 
education system. Councillor Mark Loveday asked which sites had been identified 
for redevelopment. Kevin Gordon (Head of Assets Operations Programmes) said the 
sites were listed in a Cabinet report that was due to be released in the next few 
weeks. Denis Charman asked if this programme only raised money for the school 
that was being developed or the wider community of schools. Steve Miley assured 
the Committee that the programme was designed to manage the overall financial 
situation of the wider education system.

Tony Burton continued his presentation, highlighting some of the key savings 
proposal in the budget including better procurement of housing for care leavers and 
developing more experienced foster carers to help children 'step down' from 
residential care. He then noted some of the key areas of growth - including 
placements costs for looked after children and care leavers - and money to support 
Dubs children who were ageing over 18 (as Home Office grant funding reduced 
significantly at that age).

Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director for Finance and Governance) gave a short 
presentation outlining the wider financial context for local government and the 
ongoing financial challenges that Council's face. He noted that for 2019/20 the 
forecast budget gap, before savings, was £10.3m, rising to £48.6m by 2022/23.

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Councillor Mark Loveday, noting the significant funding shortfall in the high needs 
block of £4m a year, asked what the deficit recovery plan was. Steve Miley said the 
high needs block deficit was the biggest financial challenge in Children's Services 
and it couldn't be managed through the normal savings processes. To address this 
issue the Council was undertaking a school rebuilding programme - using the 
opportunity to improve school buildings and make better use of valuable land in the 
borough. To reduce the overspend the department was in discussions about 
changing the way it meets children’s needs.

Councillor Loveday asked what this would actually mean for schools and the SEND 
services provided. Officers explained that it would mean more children supported in 
mainstream schools and escalating fewer children up to alternative and specialist 
provision. Special schools could also help mainstream schools - using their 
resources better across the borough. He noted that he didn't expect this to change 
quickly - it would be a long term iterative process.

At the moment parents think the only way of getting the support their children need is 
through an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP). For example, currently the only 
way to get speech and language therapy was through an EHCP.

The Council's ambition was to put services in place that were accessible without 
going through the expensive bureaucracy of the EHCP process. This would also free 
up SENCOs to work more directly with children rather than doing endless paperwork.

Councillor Loveday asked when the Committee would be presented with this new 
strategy. Steve Miley said it was in the formal planning stages - officers were having 
a series of meetings with schools and Headteachers to develop a programme 
together. The Chair noted that this was an important area for the Committee to 
scrutinise in more detail in future.

ACTION: Item to be added to the work programme

Councillor Lucy Richardson asked if the Council was doing anything to promote 
inclusion in special schools - i.e. encouraging students, where appropriate, to move 
into mainstream schools. Steve Miley responded that Headteachers have said the 
current system was too binary. We needed to support a spectrum of need from 
mainstream schools, to specialist units, to special school. There needed to be more 
choice and greater flexibility in the system.

Councillor Lucy Richardson asked what the savings for travel care and support 
would mean for the service. Mandy Lawson said the savings covered a range of 
efficiencies. For example, when taxis were used they automatically provided an 
escort, but it wasn't always necessary. The team were working to move people to be 
more independent. Officers were also looking at rationalising the routes and were 
renegotiating contracts with providers.

Councillor Lucy Richardson asked what educational psychology key working was. 
Mandy Lawson said that was part of the new integrated key working service. There 
was a gap around the first point of identification and diagnosis - parents didn’t have 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

anywhere to go. Now there was a single point of contact to coordinate and arrange 
potential pathways for their children.

Councillor Asif Siddique asked if officers expected the deficit to increase because of 
Britain leaving the EU in March 2019. Hitesh Jolapara said it was very hard to predict 
- inflation going up was a big risk. There were also major risks around the staffing 
impacts of EU nationals leaving - and risk to the local economy.

Matt Jenkins asked if the plans to support more students with SEND in mainstream 
schools meant schools would have to take on additional costs. Steve Miley said the 
Council was not expecting schools to absorb additional costs - instead we wanted to 
fund what children really need. The high needs block doesn’t have to just fund 
children with EHCPs.

Merhawit Ghebre (resident) asked if young people were part of the planning process 
for the schools building programme. Kevin Gordon said it was very important to get 
the model right and the Council wanted to be collaborative. There were some 
consultation groups in place and it was important to have the voice of young people 
represented throughout all of our planning.

The Chair noted that he would like this to be an item at a future meeting and the 
Committee should invite young people and parents to give their views on the 
proposals.

ACTION: Add item to the work programme

Councillor Mark Loveday asked if the £2.2m of growth for Family Services was 
based on increases seen over the last couple of years projected forward. Steve 
Miley said that figure was based on the steady state of the current cohort and their 
costs going forward.

Councillor Mark Loveday asked if it would make a significant difference if the 
caseload reduced by 10. Tony Burton responded that it was not just the number of 
cases but also their increasing complexity. Greater complexity leads to higher 
placement costs.

Councillor Mark Loveday noted the proposed savings of £600k for enhanced 
fostering and asked if, given what the Committee has heard about the pressures and 
increase in complexity, that was a realistic figure. Kevin Gordon said officers had 
carefully modelled the savings. H&F had a premiere fostering service and it gets 
many inquiries from out of the borough. There was a good supply of foster carers 
and the principle fostering manager was becoming a nationally recognised expert in 
dealing with challenging behaviours. The savings were modelled on five placements 
with an average saving of over £100k per placement.

Denis Charman (School Governor and NUE representative) wanted to note that as a 
Governor he appreciated what the Council was doing to support schools. He added 
that in the last national consultation on the fair funding formula for schools funding 
Hammersmith & Fulham contributed 10 percent of the total responses and that had a 
real impact on the proposals. He asked if there would be further lobbying by the 
Council to see if there was anything more that could be done to protect schools’ 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

budgets. The Chair agreed that the Council's lobbying had contributed to the 
Government rethinking their proposals and said the Council would do all it could in 
future to fight for schools in the borough.

RESOLVED
That the Committee considered and commented on the budget proposals.

6. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next meeting was noted as 25 March 2019.

Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 9.40 pm

Chair

Contact officer David Abbott
Scrutiny Manager
Governance and Scrutiny
Tel 020 8753 2063
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 13



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE

25 March 2019 

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education - Councillor Larry Culhane

Open Report

Classification: For Review & Comment
Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Director for Children’s Services, Steve Miley

Report Author:
Jan Parnell, Assistant Director of Education

Lesley Leak, Head of School Effectiveness

Contact Details:
Jan.Parnell@lbhf.gov.uk

Lesley.Leak@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This is the annual school performance report to inform Members of the Children and 
Education Policy and Accountability Committee of the outcomes of the Summer 
2018 assessments and examinations in the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham primary and secondary schools, and the current position with regard to 
Ofsted school inspections. The report provides an overview of the outcomes and 
how they compare with the national picture; all data is also final. The priorities for 
school effectiveness in the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham that 
inform the work of officers in our education service are also highlighted. The 
published results for individual primary and secondary schools will be made 
available to the Committee separately.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That members of the Policy and Accountability Committee review and comment on 
the school performance details in the report and the school improvement priorities 
identified.

2.2 That members make particular note of the main performance headlines for 2018:

o Overall performance at Key Stages 1-4 in schools in Hammersmith and Fulham 
continues to be above national averages for state funded schools and in line 
with national at Key Stage 5; 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Jan.Parnell@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Lesley.Leak@lbhf.gov.uk


o In primary schools, at Key Stage 1 and 2, the percentage of pupils reaching the 
expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics is above the national 
average in all three subjects;

o Hammersmith and Fulham ranked 6th nationally and third in Inner London for 
the percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and 
mathematics at Key Stage 2.

o In secondary schools in Hammersmith and Fulham, the percentage of students 
achieving all key indicators is above the national average, and furthermore 
Hammersmith and Fulham LA is ranked top in Inner London for performance in: 
the English Baccalaureate ( GCSE grades 9-5) as well as for GCSE grades 9-5 
with English and mathematics; and is joint top with Westminster for Attainment 
8 and second for Progress 8 in Inner London.

o The gap in outcomes for children in receipt of the pupil premium remains smaller 
than the national gap at both Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4;

o The proportion of schools judged to be good or outstanding has improved and 
is currently above the published national average. 

3. Primary School Outcomes 

Foundation Stage (reception)

3.1 The percentage of the Reception cohort with a good level of development was 74% 
in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2018, in line with 2017, and compared with 72% 
nationally in 2018. 

EYFSP
Early Learning Goals

LBHF NATIONAL

Working as 
expected 

2018
74% 72%

Working as 
expected 

2017
74% 71%

Phonics Year 1 and Year 2 (5 and 6 year olds)

3.2 The percentage of Year 1 pupils meeting the expected standard of phonic decoding 
was 88% in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2018, up from 86% in 2017, and compared 
with 82% nationally in 2018. Similarly, the percentage of pupils meeting the expected 
standard of phonic decoding by the end of Year 2 was 93% in Hammersmith and 
Fulham in 2018, in line with 2017, and compared with 92% nationally in 2018.

Page 15



Phonics Y1 and Y2
Screening Check

LBHF NATIONAL

Meeting 
expected 
standard 
2018 Y1

88% 82%

Meeting 
expected 
standard 
2017 Y1

86% 81%

Meeting 
expected 
standard 
2018 Y2

93% 92%

Meeting 
expected 
standard 
2017 Y2

93% 92%

3.3 Key Stage achievement is measured on performance categories for KS1 teacher 
assessments (which allow analysis of those working at the expected standard, and 
those working at greater depth), and by scaled scores in KS2 tests (scores are 
standardised to a national average of 100, based on marks awarded).

Key Stage 1 (end of Year two – 7 year olds)

3.4 The percentages of pupils working at expected at Key Stage 1 in reading were higher 
in 2018 compared with 2017 (80%, up from 79%); in writing (74%, up from 72%) 
and in mathematics (81%, up from 79%). All were above national outturns (75%, 
70% and 76% respectively) in 2018.

3.5 The percentages of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 1 has remained 
unchanged in reading (27%), although writing improved significantly (29%, up 
from 18%), and mathematics had also shown an improvement from 23% to 26%. 
All were above national outturns (26%, 16% and 22% respectively) in 2018.

Page 16



Key Stage 1
Teacher assessments 

LBHF NATIONAL
reading writing maths reading writing maths

Working as 
expected 

2018
80% 74% 81% 75% 70% 76%

Working as 
expected 

2017
79% 72% 79% 76% 68% 75%

Working at 
greater 

depth 2018
27% 29% 26% 26% 16% 22%

Working at 
greater 

depth 2017
27% 18% 23% 25% 16% 21%

Key Stage 2 (end of primary school – 11 year olds)

3.6 The percentage of pupils working at expected at Key Stage 2 have remained the 
same in reading, writing and mathematics overall (74%) but still above the 
national average of 65% in 2018. The percentages had improved in reading (83%, 
up from 82%) and in writing (82%, up from 81%) although mathematics depicted 
a small decrease (85%, down from 86%); however, all were above national outturns 
in 2018.

3.7 The percentage of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 2 has improved in 
reading, writing and mathematics overall (16% in 2018, up from 14% in 2017) 
and was also above national (10%, up from 9%). The percentages have also 
improved in reading (37%, up from 35%) and in writing (25%, up from 22%) 
although again there was a marginal decrease in mathematics (33%, down from 
35%); nonetheless, all were above national outturns.

Page 17



Key Stage 2
Tests (reading and mathematics) and teacher assessments (writing)

LBHF NATIONAL
reading writing maths RWM reading writing maths RWM

Working as 
expected

2018
83% 82% 85% 74% 76% 79% 76% 65%

Working as 
expected 

2017
82% 81% 86% 74% 72% 77% 75% 62%

Working at 
greater 

depth 2018
37% 25% 33% 16% 28% 20% 24% 10%

Working at 
greater 

depth 2017
35% 22% 35% 14% 25% 18% 23% 9%

4. Secondary School Outcomes 

GCSE

4.1 Further reforms were introduced last year to the GCSE grading system with grades 
9-1 replacing A*-G for English and mathematics. GCSE grades 9-4 (4 and above) are 
deemed to be equivalent to a ‘standard’ pass but GCSE grades 9-5 are a new measure 
termed a ‘strong’ pass by the DfE and have no historic equivalencies. 

4.2 The percentage achieving GCSE Grades 9-4 (A*-C) in English and mathematics 
in 2018 was 70.7% which was an improvement in comparison to last year (70.2%), 
and also above the national average (64.4%). In 2018, 54.8% achieved GCSE Grades 
9-5 in English and mathematics, compared to 52.9% in 2017 and 43.5% nationally. 

4.3 For the English Baccalaureate (a measure based on a combination of English, 
mathematics, science, a language and a humanities subject), 41.8% of students 
provisionally achieved this standard in 2018, compared with 40% in 2017; this was 
also considerably above the national average (24.2%). In 2018, 32.4% achieved a 
strong pass, compared to 36% in 2017 and 16.8% nationally. 

4.4 Attainment 8 (a score based on points for eight main subjects) is also above the 
national average (52.9, compared with 46.6) and Progress 8 (a score standardised 
to a national average of zero, based on the GCSE points that would be expected, 
given prior attainment at KS2) was 0.34, which was considerably above national (-
0.02).

4.5 In the DfE national release for GCSE results for 2018, the borough was ranked in the 
top quartile nationally for all key indicators, and in Inner London, joint top with 
Westminster for Attainment 8; second for Progress 8 and top for the English 
Baccalaureate.

Page 18



Key Stage 4

LBHF National
2017 2018 2017 2018

Attainment 8 50.9 52.9 46.4 46.6

Progress 8 0.17 0.34 -0.03 -0.02

9-5 English 
& Maths 52.9% 54.8% 42.9% 43.5%

9-4 English 
& Maths 70.2% 70.7% 64.2% 64.4%

9-5 EBacc 36.0% 32.4% 21.4% 16.8%

9-4 EBacc 40.0% 41.8% 23.9% 24.2%

A Levels

4.6 For A Levels, the percentage of papers awarded the highest grade (Grade A*) was 
8% in 2018, which was the same as the 2018 national average (8%). The proportion 
achieving Grade A*-A was 28%, compared with 26% nationally. 

Key Stage 5

LBHF NATIONAL

2018 2018

A* 8% 8%

A*-A 28% 26%

A*-B 52% 53%

A*-C 74% 77%

A*-D 89% 92%

A*-E 97% 98%

5. PERFORMANCE PUPIL GROUPS

5.1 In reviewing performance of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham an analysis is also 
made of the achievements of pupils in vulnerable groups. This includes those entitled 

Page 19



to a free school meal (FSM), special educational needs (SEN) and those with English 
as an additional language (EAL). It also includes minority ethnic pupils, and those 
who are in the care of the local authority.

5.2 In 2018 in primary schools the percentage of pupils entitled to a free meal (FSM, 
22%) was considerably above the national average (14%) and pupils speaking 
English as an additional language (EAL, 48%) was over twice the national average of 
21%. 73% of pupils were from an ethnic minority (MEP, compared with 33% 
nationally), and 15% were SEN (compared to 14% nationally). We see our diverse 
profile as a key strength 

5.3 In secondary schools the percentage of pupils entitled to a free meal (19%) was 
considerably more than the national average (12%), and pupils speaking English as 
an additional language (36%) was over twice the national average of 17%. 70% of 
pupils were from an ethnic minority (compared with 30% nationally), and 11% were 
SEN (compared to 12% nationally).

FSM
Primary

EAL MEP SEN FSM
Secondary

EAL MEP SEN
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Hammersmith & Fulham National

Pupil rolls by characteristics as of January 2018

5.4 The differences (gaps) between key groups of Key Stage 2 pupils were smaller locally 
than nationally when deprivation (pupil premium, as measured by free school meal 
entitlement over six years and looked after status), is considered. Furthermore, EAL 
pupils performed broadly in line with non-EAL pupils, a remarkable achievement 
when considering that approximately three-quarters of EAL speakers arrive in 
primary school with little or no fluency in English. Additionally, achievement was 
considerably above nationally individually for each group as shown below. 

Page 20



KS2 PP Non-PP PP Gap SEN No SEN SEN 
Gap EAL Non 

EAL
EAL 
Gap

LBHF - 
RWM 
Expected

66% 81% -15% 32% 86% -54% 74% 75% -1%

National - 
RWM 
Expected

51% 71% -20% 21% 74% -53% 65% 65% 0%

5.5 Key Stage 4 the gap was also smaller than nationally for pupil premium, and as at 
Key Stage 2, achievement was higher than nationally for each group individually.

KS4 PP Non- 
PP

PP 
Gap SEN No 

SEN
SEN 
Gap EAL Non 

EAL
EAL 
Gap

LBHF 9-4 English & 
Maths 58% 80% -22% 31% 78% -47% 70% 72% -2%

National 9-4 English 
& Maths 45% 72% -27% 26% 71% -45% 64% 65% 0%

LBHF 9-5 English & 
Maths 40% 65% -26% 18% 61% -43% 53% 56% -4%

National 9-4 English 
& Maths 25% 50% -25% 14% 49% -35% 44% 43% 1%

5.6 At both key stages, all main ethnic groups performed above, or broadly in line with, 
the national percentage for that group in terms of achieving as expected in reading, 
writing and mathematics (Key Stage 2) and Grades 9-5 in English and mathematics 
(Key Stage 4).

6. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN

6.1 Key Stage 1: There were 5 pupils in this cohort; three pupils (60%) achieved the 
expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics 

6.2 Key Stage 2:  There were 7 pupils in this cohort; three pupils (43%) achieved the 
expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics.

6.3 Key Stage 4: There were 16 pupils in this cohort; based on provisional outturns, 
four pupils achieved 5+ GCSE grades 9-4 including English and mathematics (25%) 
and eight achieved 5+ Grades 9-1 (50%). Nine pupils (56%) achieved at least one 
graded result.  

6.4 The results for looked after children (LAC) need to be placed within the context of 
the high prevalence of SEN and complex learning needs and placement instability. 
Schools face significant and particular challenges in improving the attainment of LAC; 
however, the performance of LAC in 2018 indicate that successful strategies can be 
put in place which improve outcomes.  Effective strategies include: close 
collaboration with the virtual school, consistent and robust identification of needs 
through effective Personal Education Plan, and targeted support using Pupil Premium 
funding.

Page 21



7. OFSTED INSPECTION OUTCOMES 

7.1 The percentage of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham which are rated outstanding 
or good by Ofsted inspectors to date stands at 95%, with 46% outstanding. This is 
above the national average (86% and 21% respectively).

2018 OFSTED 
Outcomes
(All state schools)

National
(2017/18)

Hammersmith and Fulham 
(2018/19)

Outstanding/Good 86% 95% (59/60 schools)
Outstanding 21% 46% (27)
Good 65% 49% (29)
Requiring Improvement 11% 5% (3)
Inadequate 3% N/A

8. School Effectiveness Priorities 2018-2019

8.1 The School Effectiveness Service in the Education Department currently leads on 
providing the council support for school improvement in Hammersmith and Fulham. 
In line with the current local framework for school effectiveness this service is 
developing its self-improving school model through peer to peer reviews and the 
formation of the primary phase Hammersmith and Fulham Learning Partnership. 

8.2 The school effectiveness team continues to allocate a lead adviser to each school 
(all educational phases) to undertake core visits if there are key standards issues and 
areas to develop. If school performance data indicates that the school is highly 
effective, then the team offers an annual conversation if required. However, the new 
model encourages schools to be self-improving through peer to peer support. The 
regular head teacher forums are very well-attended; these include a termly thematic 
workshop that focuses on a key area of common interest. (Thematic workshops to 
date:  SEND in the autumn term 2018 and school organisation in the spring term 
2019.) 

8.3 The development of the Learning Partnership is a corner stone of the sovereign 
education service. Head teachers are commissioned to co-work with senior LA officers 
on an identified set of priorities that align with the manifesto commitments:

 Teacher recruitment and retention
 Wellbeing
 Marketing Hammersmith & Fulham schools 
 CPD – developed and delivered by school-based practitioners and external 

partners
All primary and standalone nursery schools are invited to become a member of the 
Learning Partnership and will receive a range of school to school support as part of 
their membership. The Learning Partnership has a governance model and terms of 
reference that have been agreed by the working group and will be circulated to wider 
consultation forums. The pilot phase will be in 2019/2020 and evaluated by the 
university sector partner.
 

8.4 The School Effectiveness Service started on March 31st 2018. The following service 
priorities have been currently identified by the School Effectiveness team for raising 
standards this year:

 To increase further the percentage of good/outstanding schools in the borough 
through appropriately targeted local authority support, and to establish 
effective school to school improvement partnerships between schools, 
including peer review;

Page 22



 To provide training and support for primary school leaders in assessment 
moderation and in the teaching and assessment of all the core subject areas 
in the primary curriculum, especially writing;

 To support early years practitioners with establishing effective assessment 
processes and enable schools to fully understand the complex changes to the 
Early Years national funding formula to ensure quality provision across H&F. 
(Support for remodelling Early Years settings is on offer and Hammersmith 
and Fulham will continue to offer a wide range of services to residents); 

 To further develop partnership arrangements with academies and the Regional 
Schools Commissioner that enables the service to challenge and support school 
performance in academies. The school effectiveness team has been working 
with some secondary academies on their school improvement plans; 

 To support and advise secondary and primary schools with the introduction of 
new Ofsted Framework (September 2019)

 To support access to and the delivery of quality independent advice and 
guidance on the range of local 14- 19 pathways available to young people, 
including apprenticeships, compliance with the new Gatsby career benchmarks 
so as to continue to reduce NEET levels and further increase post 16 
participation;

 To co-develop a 14-19 strategy that links to the LA Industrial Strategy with 
particular reference to Imperial and promoting STEAM subjects;

 To co-lead on sharing best practice between schools in the provision of 
effective education for SEN support children and to work with schools to 
become more inclusive; for example, through the introduction of a SENCO peer 
to peer pilot;

 To pilot inclusion projects, including mentoring and re-engagement 
programmes; to pilot alternative provision cross phase with key stakeholders 
as well as co-working on child centred behaviour for learning strategies to 
support inclusion; 

 To evaluate and share best practice arising from this year’s peer to peer 
reviews including creating artefacts and a learning partnership website to 
disseminate best practice throughout the primary phase. 

Key School Effectiveness Priorities for 2019- 2020

To implement the Early Years strategy; 

To establish the Learning Partnership in the primary phase;

To continue to co-work with school leaders on school effectiveness and key issues & 
challenges in the education sector;

To work closely with the virtual school and Youth Offending Service to further support the 
most vulnerable cohorts in accessing high quality education and access to curriculum and 
work-related opportunities;

To continue to work with maintained and academy schools in developing their inclusive 
curriculum, policies and procedures including reducing fixed term exclusions; 

To further support all children identified with a special educational need and/or disability; 

To establish secondary subject networks across all subjects;

To maintain the high percentage of good and outstanding Ofsted inspection judgements for 
‘overall effectiveness’ in all schools in Hammersmith and Fulham;

Page 23



To work with schools on developing their practice to meet the proposed new OFSTED 
requirements; especially in relation to new criteria regarding the curriculum; 

To develop the 14-19 strategy to help implement the industrial strategy;

To establish a Post 16 network across all schools.

Page 24



PRIMARY SCHOOLS DASHBOARD (Updated Dec 2018)

School Name School 
Phase

Pupil Roll 
(Oct 2018) GLD Phonics 

Y1

KS1 
RWM 
Exp

KS1 
RWM 
High

KS2 
RWM 
Exp

KS2 
RWM 
High

Reading 
Progress

Writing 
Progress

Maths 
Progress

National All 72% 82% 65% 12% 65% 10% 0.0 0.0 0.0
Inner London All 74% 85% N/A N/A 71% 13% 1.2 1.2 1.6

H&F All 20,751 
(10,602) 74% 88% 71% 16% 74% 16% 1.6 0.5 1.7

Addison Primary 334 70% 
(28/40)

79% 
(34/43)

50% 
(24/48)

0% 
(0/48)

67% 
(37/55)

5% 
(3/55) 2.0 -4.0 3.2

All Saints Primary 228 83% 
(24/29)

87% 
(26/30)

78% 
(21/27)

15% 
(4/27)

79% 
(23/29)

21% 
(6/29) 1.7 -0.2 2.0

ARK Bentworth Primary 213 90% 
(26/29)

100% 
(25/25)

79% 
(15/19)

11% 
(2/19)

79% 
(19/24)

8% 
(2/24) 1.0 2.6 2.5

ARK Conway Primary Primary 209 79% 
(23/29)

93% 
(28/30)

93% 
(27/29)

41% 
(12/29)

93% 
(28/30)

37% 
(11/30) -0.3 -0.6 -0.1

ARK Swift Primary 266 87% 
(26/30)

89% 
(24/27)

60% 
(18/30)

17% 
(5/30)

61% 
(23/38)

0% 
(0/38) 0.7 2.1 0.8

Avonmore Primary 202 69% 
(11/16)

87% 
(20/23)

80% 
(24/30)

10% 
(3/30)

66% 
(19/29)

7% 
(2/29) 4.1 2.4 1.2

Brackenbury Primary 439 75% 
(43/57)

90% 
(47/52)

66% 
(39/59)

12% 
(7/59)

73% 
(41/56)

9% 
(5/56) 2.1 -0.2 3.0

Earls Court Free School Primary 150 79% 
(23/29)

97% 
(28/29)

90% 
(27/30)

27% 
(8/30) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Flora Gardens Primary 201 62% 
(13/21)

84% 
(21/25)

64% 
(16/25)

12% 
(3/25)

54% 
(22/41)

7% 
(3/41) -1.7 -2.9 -1.6

Fulham Primary 288 58% 
(19/33)

78% 
(38/49)

72% 
(33/46)

4% 
(2/46)

65% 
(32/49)

0% 
(0/49) -0.1 -1.1 0.6

Good Shepherd Primary 226 90% 
(27/30)

79% 
(23/29)

63% 
(19/30)

30% 
(9/30)

80% 
(40/50)

26% 
(13/50) 1.8 0.7 0.3

Greenside Academy Primary 203 80% 
(24/30)

96% 
(27/28)

88% 
(23/26)

27% 
(7/26)

90% 
(26/29)

24% 
(7/29) 3.8 3.0 0.6

Holy Cross Primary 619 81% 
(65/80)

92% 
(80/87)

79% 
(70/89)

12% 
(11/89)

82% 
(47/57)

18% 
(10/57) 0.3 -0.1 0.7

John Betts Primary 239 93% 
(28/30)

100% 
(29/29)

83% 
(24/29)

48% 
(14/29)

97% 
(28/29)

48% 
(14/29) 4.7 6.4 4.7

Kenmont Primary 223 71% 
(17/24)

86% 
(25/29)

72% 
(21/29)

14% 
(4/29)

63% 
(12/19)

5% 
(1/19) -0.3 -0.8 -2.7

Langford Primary 188 70% 
(16/23)

83% 
(15/18)

60% 
(15/25)

16% 
(4/25)

88% 
(23/26)

27% 
(7/26) 3.8 4.8 6.1

Larmenier & SH Primary 438 83% 
(49/59)

90% 
(54/60)

78% 
(47/60)

20% 
(12/60)

82% 
(47/57)

26% 
(15/57) 2.9 1.4 3.5

Lena Gardens Academy Primary 90 71% 
(17/24)

80% 
(16/20)

67% 
(10/15)

0% 
(0/15)

82% 
(14/17)

12% 
(2/17) 3.7 0.7 0.8

Melcombe Primary 401 75% 
(33/44)

70% 
(32/46)

75% 
(43/57)

25% 
(14/57)

77% 
(41/53)

19% 
(10/53) 1.8 1.7 3.1

Miles Coverdale Primary 235 76% 
(25/33)

93% 
(26/28)

69% 
(24/35)

14% 
(5/35)

76% 
(22/29)

0% 
(0/29) 2.0 -2.4 -0.2

Normand Croft Primary 220 60% 
(15/25)

83% 
(19/23)

72% 
(18/25)

12% 
(3/25)

85% 
(17/20)

10% 
(2/20) 4.9 0.5 4.2

Old Oak Primary 328 57% 
(24/42)

88% 
(36/41)

57% 
(25/44)

20% 
(9/44)

53% 
(16/30)

10% 
(3/30) 5.7 3.0 6.3

Queens Manor Primary 214 71% 
(20/28)

78% 
(21/27)

69% 
(18/26)

23% 
(6/26)

63% 
(20/32)

19% 
(6/32) 2.3 0.7 1.0

Sir John Lillie Primary 321 71% 
(34/48)

94% 
(30/32)

52% 
(16/31)

10% 
(3/31)

66% 
(31/47)

9% 
(4/47) 0.1 -1.3 0.2

St Augustines Primary 212 83% 
(24/29)

90% 
(27/30)

79% 
(22/28)

11% 
(3/28)

93% 
(27/29)

24% 
(7/29) 2.7 2.1 1.1

St John XXIII Primary 298 73% 
(40/55)

93% 
(41/44)

67% 
(31/46)

0% 
(0/46)

83% 
(25/30)

10% 
(3/30) 2.2 0.2 4.3

St Johns Primary 383 79% 
(42/53)

98% 
(52/53)

91% 
(50/55)

16% 
(9/55)

76% 
(41/54)

28% 
(15/54) 1.9 3.4 1.2

St Marys Primary 213 70% 
(19/27)

77% 
(23/30)

73% 
(22/30)

20% 
(6/30)

73% 
(22/30)

13% 
(4/30) -0.9 3.6 2.4

St Pauls Primary 213 71% 
(20/28)

89% 
(25/28)

61% 
(17/28)

11% 
(3/28)

59% 
(17/29)

14% 
(4/29) -2.8 -2.4 0.0

St Peters Primary 207 87% 
(26/30)

93% 
(28/30)

83% 
(25/30)

27% 
(8/30)

100% 
(29/29)

34% 
(10/29) 1.9 1.4 4.2

St Stephens Primary 415 75% 
(45/60)

97% 
(58/60)

90% 
(54/60)

23% 
(14/60)

93% 
(26/28)

32% 
(9/28) 5.0 3.0 4.2

St Thomas Primary 267 70% 
(16/23) N/A 66% 

(21/32)
6% 

(2/32)
73% 

(35/48)
19% 

(9/48) 0.8 -1.3 1.6

Sulivan Primary 248 83% 
(19/23)

83% 
(43/52)

67% 
(22/33)

3% 
(1/33)

64% 
(18/28)

4% 
(1/28) -1.8 -6.4 -0.9

Thomas Academy Primary 237 59% 
(17/29)

77% 
(20/26)

57% 
(16/28)

14% 
(4/28)

83% 
(24/29)

17% 
(5/29) 1.3 3.0 1.8

Wendell Park Primary 441 81% 
(46/57)

90% 
(54/60)

59% 
(33/56)

7% 
(4/56)

70% 
(32/46)

17% 
(8/46) 3.7 0.6 2.0

WLFS Primary Primary 359 80% 
(48/60)

97% 
(58/60)

80% 
(48/60)

35% 
(21/60) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Wormholt Park Primary 415 56% 
(29/52)

74% 
(39/53)

44% 
(24/54)

0% 
(0/54)

72% 
(51/71)

3% 
(2/71) 0.3 -0.2 0.9

London Oratory Secondary 1,328 (80) N/A N/A N/A N/A 100% 
(20/20)

45% 
(9/20) -0.8 2.4 1.5

Burlington Danes Secondary 1,307 (139) 88% 
(44/50)

94% 
(31/33)

68% 
(38/56)

9% 
(5/56) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

School Information DFE (2017/18 Revised Published - Dec 2018)NCER (2017/18 - extracted Sept 2018)

Page 25



SECONDARY SCHOOLS DASHBOARD (Updated Feb 2019)

School Name School Phase
Pupil Roll 

(Oct 2018)

End of 

KS4 

Cohort

Attainment 

8
Progress 8

9-4 EBACC 

(standard)

9-5 EBACC 

(strong)

9-4 English 

& Maths 

(standard)

9-5 English 

& Maths 

(strong)

16-18 A 

levels 

Cohort

APS 

score per 

entry

APS 

score per 

entry as a 

grade

Best 3 A 

levels 

Cohort

APS best 

3

APS best 

3 as a 

grade

AAB A 

levels 

Cohort

AAB 

grades or 

higher

National All 44.5 N/A 22% 15% 59% 40% 33.33 C+ 33.59 C+ 16%

Inner London All 48.3 0.19 31% 21% 66% 46% 31.38 C 32.07 C+ 14%

H&F All
9,508 

(7,941)
1,291 52.9 0.34 42% 32% 71% 55% 1,004 32.30 C+ 780 31.59 C 780 18%

Burlington Danes Academy Secondary 1,307 (900) 164 44.2 -0.28 28% 15% 49% 32% 108 31.55 C 81 34.16 C+ 81 20%

Fulham College Boys Secondary 412 (353) 86 47.5 0.06 14% 13% 60% 37% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Fulham Cross Girls Secondary 850 (662) 125 54.6 0.96 30% 22% 70% 51% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Hammersmith Academy Secondary 662 108 48.2 -0.08 31% 19% 71% 44% 82 28.32 C- 59 28.08 C- 59 9%

Hurlingham Academy Secondary 479 87 55.4 0.85 47% 36% 84% 62% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Lady Margaret Secondary 761 (598) 89 66.3 1.03 61% 54% 88% 81% 85 39.86 B 76 41.18 B 76 26%

London Oratory Secondary 1,328 (912) 173 63.2 0.59 62% 53% 88% 74% 185 42.07 B+ 177 42.96 B+ 177 37%

Phoenix High Secondary 417 131 42.7 0.16 9% 7% 54% 34% 55 17.59 D- 46 16.3 D- 46 2%

Sacred Heart High Secondary 1,046 (921) 162 66.0 0.74 80% 65% 91% 85% 78 36.53 B- 57 38.36 B 57 26%

West London Free School Secondary 856 (647) 119 57.4 0.31 56% 41% 79% 66% 92 32.45 C+ 88 32.08 C+ 88 14%

William Morris Sixth Form 841 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 282 23.72 D+ 181 19.52 D 181 2%

DFE (2017/18 Revised Published - Jan 2019)School Information

KS4 Performance KS5 Performance

P
age 26



Ofsted Judgements, March 2019
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham

NB: Schools highlighted have been inspected since March 
2018

Good/Outstanding: 86% (nationally) 

LBHF Ofsted Outcomes:  All
Good/Outstanding 56 95%
Outstanding 27 46%
Good 29 49%
Require Improvement 3 5%
Inadequate   
TOTAL 59 100%

SCHOOL OFSTED JUDGEMENT
OE

NURSERY AND EARLY YEARS   

Bayonne Nursery School Jun-18 O
James Lee Nursery School Oct-17 O
Randolph Beresford EY Centre Nov-18 O
Vanessa Nursery School Apr-18 O
PRIMARY   
Addison Jun-16 O
All Saints CE Mar-16 G
Ark Bentworth Academy Feb-19 G
Ark Conway Primary Academy Jul-13 O
Ark Swift Academy May-16 G
Avonmore Primary School Oct-16 G
Brackenbury Jan-09 O
Earls Court Free School Jun-17 O
Flora Gardens Apr-17 G
Fulham Nov-18 G
The Good Shepherd RC Mar-14 O
Greenside Jun-18 G
Holy Cross RC Sep-15 G
John Betts Jun-07 O
Kenmont Nov-17 G
Langford Jan-19 O
Larmenier & Sacred Heart Catholic Feb-15 O
Lena Gardens Primary Academy Feb-17 G

Page 27



Melcombe Sep-13 O
Miles Coverdale Feb-13 O
Thomas's Academy Mar-18 G
Normand Croft Community Dec-16 RI
Old Oak Mar-18 G
St John's XXIII May-08 O
Queens Manor Dec-18 G
Sir John Lillie Apr-16 G
St Augustine's Catholic Jan-07 O
St John's CE Walham Green Jun-17 G
St Mary's RC Nov-18 G
St Paul's CE Apr-15 O
St Peter's CE Mar-17 O
St Stephen's CE May-11 O
St Thomas of Canterbury Catholic Jul-18 G
Sulivan Feb-19 G
Wendell Park May-17 G
West London Free Primary Academy May-15 O
Wormholt Park Feb-17 G
SECONDARY   
Burlington Danes Academy Nov-18 RI
Fulham Colllege Boys Academy Feb-18 G
Fulham Boys Free School May-17 G
Fulham Cross Girls Academy Sep-09 O
Hammersmith Academy Mar-17 G
Hurlingham Academy Oct-17 G
Lady Margaret CE Academy Sep-11 O
London Oratory RC Academy (KS2-
KS5) Mar-09 O
Phoenix Academy Apr-16  N/A
Sacred Heart High RC Academy Sep-17 O
West London Free Academy May-17 G
Sixth Form   
William Morris Feb-17 RI
Special   
Cambridge May-15 G
Jack Tizard Jun-18 O
Queensmill May-18 O
Woodlane High May-18 G
Alternative Provision   
Courtyard Primary Nov-18 O
The Bridge Academy Feb-17 G
TBAP 16-19 Academic AP   N/A
The Westside Jun-15 G

Page 28



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

CHILDREN & EDUCATION
POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE

25 March 2019

SCHOOL ORGANISATION STRATEGY 2019

Report of the Director for Children’s Services - Steve Miley 

Open Report

Classification - For review and comment
Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Steve Miley, Director Children’s Services

Report Author: 
Christine Edwards, Principal Officer 
School Place Planning

Contact Details:
Tel: 020 8753 5179
E-mail: Christine.Edwards@lbhf.gov.uk 

The following documents are attached for review 

 Copy of DRAFT School Organisation Strategy 2019

 Accompanying PowerPoint slide presentation for discussion

Officers will use the basis of the strategy report to clarify and explain the methodology 
and outcomes of school place planning across the Borough.

Officers will also discuss the themes and issues arising from recent consultation 
events that having been taking place with School Leaders.

Page 29

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Christine.Edwards@lbhf.gov.uk


School Organisation Strategy 
2019

Page 30



DRAFT

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

School Organisation Strategy

2019

Contents
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY..............................................................................................................................................1

1. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES...........................................................................................................................6

2. BACKGROUND AND TIMELINE ........................................................................................................................7

3. SCHOOL PLACE PLANNING...........................................................................................................................10

3.1. school popularity ........................................................................................................................................11

4. NEED FOR SCHOOL PLACES ........................................................................................................................12

4.1. how school places are projected .............................................................................................................12
4.2. primary roll projections ..............................................................................................................................13
4.3. secondary roll projections .........................................................................................................................14

5. LBHF SCHOOL ADMISSIONS, AND PROMOTING LOCAL SCHOOLS .....................................................15

5.1. pupil mobility and cross border movement.............................................................................................17
5.1.1. primary pupil mobility.................................................................................................................................17
5.1.2. primary cross border movement ..............................................................................................................17
5.1.3. secondary pupil mobility............................................................................................................................18
5.1.4. secondary cross border movement .........................................................................................................19
5.1.5. independent sector ....................................................................................................................................19
5.2. looked after children (LAC) .......................................................................................................................20

6. SCHOOL PROVISION, FUNDING, AND INVESTMENT.................................................................................20

6.1. Basic Need allocation funding..................................................................................................................21
6.2. schools funding formulae ..........................................................................................................................21
6.3. planning and infrastructure contributions: CIL and S106 .....................................................................22
6.4. DfE allocations for Basic Need provision................................................................................................23
6.5. investment programme .............................................................................................................................23
6.6. capital board school regeneration programme ......................................................................................23

7. IMPACT OF SCHOOL ROLLS ON FINANCIAL STABILITY .........................................................................23

7.1. how school funding works.........................................................................................................................23

8. HOUSING REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT......................................................................................24

8.1. regeneration area 1 – North .....................................................................................................................24
8.2. regeneration area 2 – South.....................................................................................................................26
8.3. local plan - school place provision...........................................................................................................26

9. SCHOOL ESTATE AND MAINTENANCE .......................................................................................................26

10. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) AND INCLUSION ...................................27

10.1. SEN provision .............................................................................................................................................28

Page 31



10.2. SEND schools and resource bases.........................................................................................................29
10.3. special school cross border movement ..................................................................................................30
10.4. education health care plans (EHCP).......................................................................................................31
10.5. SEND pupil roll projection and place planning ......................................................................................32

11. ALTERNATIVE PROVISION .............................................................................................................................34

12. SECONDARY EDUCATION (11-18-YEARS-OLD) .........................................................................................35

12.1. KEY STAGE 3 (Y7-Y9) ..............................................................................................................................36

12.2. KEY STAGE 4 (Y10-Y11) ..........................................................................................................................36

12.3. KEY STAGE 5 (Y12-Y13) ..........................................................................................................................37

13. OFSTED INSPECTIONS AND NEW POLICIES ..............................................................................................37

14. CONCLUSION ....................................................................................................................................................37

15. RECOMMENDATIONS ......................................................................................................................................38

Appendix 1: LBHF School Map....................................................................................................................................41
Appendix 2: Nursery, Primary Secondary, Special and AP Map Reference Key.................................................42
Appendix 3: Primary Place Applications PA1 North .................................................................................................44
Appendix 4: Primary Place Applications PA2 South.................................................................................................45
Appendix 5: Secondary Place Applications ...............................................................................................................47
Appendix 6: Planned School Place Proposals by Neighbouring Boroughs ..........................................................48
Appendix 7: Glossary: Definition of schools (GOV.uk) .............................................................................................52

Page 32



1

Executive Summary

LB Hammersmith and Fulham is a long, narrow borough running north to south bordered by 
Brent to the north; Kensington and Chelsea to the east; Wandsworth and Richmond-Upon-
Thames to the south; and Ealing and Hounslow to the west.  Excluding the City of London, 
Hammersmith and Fulham is the third smallest of the London boroughs in terms of area, 
covering 1,640 hectares.  The borough population was recorded at 182,493 at the time of 
the 2011 Census.  Current estimates for 2018 show that the LBHF population has risen by 
1.4% to 185,004, the third lowest population growth in London.

The combined effects of decreasing child yield and historical increase in school places has 
resulted in there being more school places available than needed.  School expansion 
programmes put in place to accommodate extra pupils from anticipated housing schemes 
and approval of new free school (academy) settings have created too many primary school 
places in Hammersmith and Fulham.  At secondary phase there is a healthy surplus to 
absorb larger numbers of primary pupils as they feed through at Y7 transition.  However, the 
surplus at secondary level is not evenly distributed and some high schools remain under 
subscribed.  

Due to delays in the delivery of development schemes such as the Old Oak Park Royal and 
Earl’s Court developments, young families expected to create additional need at primary 
level have not arrived but their absence was concealed by the baby boom which started 
around 2011.  Now many primary schools are under pressure as they struggle to remain 
financially viable with smaller cohorts and reduced budgets.

In 20101 34 primary settings in LBHF had approximately 9,345 primary places in Reception 
to Y6 classes which equates to around 311.5 classes (30 pupils per class) and maintained 
about a 7% (6.85%) surplus of pupil places across these year groups.

In January 2018 39 LBHF primary settings delivered 11,536 places or 384.5 classes.  This 
figure does not include the future impact of increased PAN at Reception intake from new 
primary settings that have not yet reached their full complement of pupils.  There were 9,738 
primary pupils on roll in January 2018.  The forecast for primary (Reception to Y6) surplus 
in September 2019 is 21.9% over three times more than in 2010.  

The Borough subscribes to the Greater London Authority (GLA) School Roll Projection 
Service to generate School Roll Projections (SRP) and borough population projections on 
its behalf.  

1 *Based on historic 2010 datasets

Page 33



2

The September 2018 roll for primary Reception to Y6 classes in LBHF is 9,778.

Year School Places SRP
Difference 

PAN minus SRP
2019 11,791 9,671 2,120 (21.9% surplus)
2020 11,986 9,633 2,353 (24.4% surplus)
2021 12,091 9,622 2,469 (25.7% surplus)
2022 12,181 9,615 2,566 (26.7% surplus)
2023 12,211 9,662 2,549 (26.4% surplus)

SRP: School Roll Projection

The Education Skills Funding Agency use nursery, primary, and secondary roll numbers to 
calculate schools’ block funding which is based on a monetary value associated with the 
number of pupils on roll on a specific day each academic year.  Fluctuations in nursery, 
primary and secondary pupil roll numbers will be reflected in the DSG revenue funding 
stream.  In 2018/19 each LBHF primary place equates to £5,309 which is used to maintain 
the fixed and variable running costs of a school but this funding allocation can change from 
year to year.

The following table based on a one form entry primary school illustrates how falling rolls 
affect the financial viability of a school.

As can be seen from the table a decrease of 25 pupils to 185 on roll at a single form of entry 
(210 pupils) primary school will have an immediate impact on school income.  As rolls 
continue to fall in years two and three, the effect will be insufficient income to cover salary 
expenditure.  

The baby boom is now over.  The Borough’s nursery aged population is returning to its pre-
baby-boom levels which is causing primary rolls to fall.  As birth-rates across the Borough 

Page 34



3

decline massive surplus capacity at primary level has been exposed.  Many of the agreed 
regeneration and housing schemes, such as the Old Oak Park Royal Regeneration and 
Earl’s Court Development are still in progress and not expected to begin construction within 
the next 12 – 18 months.  Delays in delivery of housing and regeneration schemes have 
manifest as over-provision of primary school places.  

The popularity of any school is based on real and perceived factors.  School Ofsted 
judgments, single sex provision, religious affiliation, academic performance, local reputation 
and physical environment are some of the valid reasons which drive parents/carers to prefer 
one school over another.  However, obtainable and realistic parental preferences at 
Reception intake and Y7 transition will lead to a more successful outcome when securing a 
school place.  Although good schools are usually popular and sought after, popularity is not 
always an accurate indicator of quality.

At Reception intake and Y7 transition, parents/carers are allowed up to 6 school preferences 
(choices) with a hierarchy of first preference to sixth preference.  The popularity of high 
performing schools at Reception entry and Y7 transition is demonstrated by the number of 
first preferences.  Schools with a high number of first preferences at Reception intake and 
Y7 transition are considered to be popular schools.

The Council will continue to support and assist local schools which are undersubscribed to 
raise their level of engagement with the wider community.  As ambassadors for our schools, 
LBHF officers working with children and young people of school age should promote our LA 
maintained schools and encourage parents/carers to take the opportunity to view and 
consider their local LBHF primary and secondary settings.  

In a bid to attract and retain good quality teachers and educators, and other key workers the 
Council is setting up a Teaching Commission to examine how the Borough attracts and 
retains its teachers.  This will include offering support with accommodation.  Former school 
caretaker houses and other residential school buildings restored and refurbished to provide 
affordable housing are the first steps in a longer-term strategy creating affordable housing 
to attract and retain newly qualified teachers and other key workers to Hammersmith and 
Fulham.  

Pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) cost £6.5m a year more than 
is provided for in the “high needs block” funding provided by central government.  In addition, 
approximately £1m per year for SEND transport, is met by the Council’s core budget.  
Working creatively and collaboratively with schools across the Borough, consideration must 
be given to utilising surplus places at primary phase to develop more inclusive SEND 
provision in mainstream settings to decrease the need for placement outside of the borough 
except for a very small number of those with the most complex needs that cannot be met 
locally.

Around 8.5% of residents on roll in LBHF schools have a special education need or disability 
(SEND) distributed across 13 different types of need.  The most common need presenting 
in LBHF in 2017/18 are Speech, Language & Communication 2.96%, Social, Emotional & 

Page 35



4

Mental Health 1.42%, Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 1.21%, and Specific Learning 
Difficulty 1.12%.

In January 2018 pupils with ASD make-up 59% of the special school cohort compared to 
16% (539) of all pupils with SEND on roll in the borough.  Pupils with ASD on roll at 
Queensmill special school equate to 43% of the borough’s ASD cohort.

The following recommendations should be considered to protect the Borough’s primary and 
secondary provision and keep as many of our schools viable for years to come.  Imaginative 
and inspired solutions need to be discussed and established to ensure Hammersmith and 
Fulham continues to provide first class education for local children and young people.  

1. The Borough address primary surplus by assisting schools in areas of greatest over-
provision to reduce their PAN.  And, working with the Regional Schools Commissioner 
as necessary, to develop a collaborative approach for ensuring future viability for 
primary schools which may include shared staff and resources, shared sites, and other 
efficiency initiatives.

2. Secondary schools nurture and develop education-based relationships with external 
agencies such as Imperial College, The BBC, LAMDA, and media companies in White 
City.

3. LBHF schools revive and restore the unique appeal of local schools through 
advertising and re-branding to attract more resident applications.  Influences which 
determine and drive parental preference at Reception intake and Y7 transition will be 
monitored, analysed and feedback to head teachers and governing bodies to support 
this initiative.  

4. A new Children’s Services School Federation and Collaboration Policy be drafted to 
protect and support vulnerable schools.  The policy should encourage schools to work 
collaboratively or federate if certain trigger conditions are met e.g. significant fall in 
pupil rolls, a Head teacher retires/resigns or the school is judged Requiring 
Improvement (RI) by Ofsted.

5. In response to any planning applications that propose the creation of additional school 
places and/or which impact significantly on the quality of the physical environment for 
a school, the Council will use the School Organisation and Investment Strategy as a 
material planning consideration in considering the need for such proposals. 

6. There should be a detailed review of SEND and Alternative provisions policy and 
strategy:

a. Changes in the incidence of different categories of need;
b. Developments in medical and professional practice affecting the kind of settings 

deemed most appropriate for them; and
c. Strategies for addressing resource constraints
d. Decisions for any future special school planning is reviewed and developed

Page 36



5

7. The Outcome of that review should also identify an appropriate balance between 
provision in specialist schools, special units within mainstream schools and 
mainstream institutions with particular reference to:

a. promoting learning equity in mainstream settings by delivering resourced 
support for SEND pupils (Reception to Y14).

b. Reducing expansionary pressure in SEND /Alternative provision by utilising 
surplus capacity within the mainstream estate; 

c. Developing improved guidelines for SEND Education Health Care Plan 
assessment to ensure that plans reflect national norms;

d. Review and reassess alternative provision arrangements.

8. Council earmarks sufficient Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funds to complete 
crucial school maintenance and capital projects. 

9. The Council should consider innovative ways of revitalising the schools’ estate.

10. The Borough’s Capital Board School Regeneration Programme should be 
cognoscente of this strategy.

Page 37



6

1. Purpose and Objectives

The purpose of this report is to provide the Council, its schools, officers, and residents with 
a five-year strategic plan on the delivery of school places through all phases across 
Hammersmith and Fulham.   

Page 38



7

2. Background and timeline 

Page 39



8
Page 40



9
Page 41



10

3. School Place Planning

In 20102 34 primary schools in LBHF delivered approximately 9,345 Reception to Y6 places 
which equates to approximately 311.5 classes (30 pupils per class).  

The number of primary pupils on roll excluding nursery was 8,704 and a healthy primary 
surplus of 641 unfilled places about 7% (6.85%) to cover parental choice and In-Year 
admissions.

By January 2018, 39 LBHF primary school settings delivered 11,536 places or 384.5 
classes.  This figure is set to increase as some new primary settings; Ark Burlington Danes 
and Earl’s Court Free school and 2FE school expansion programmes have not reached their 
full complement of pupils.  The number of Reception to Y6 pupils on roll in January 2018 
was 9,738.  

The primary surplus based on roll figures from the autumn pupil census in October 2018 is 
17% nearly three times more than in 2010. 

There is sufficient secondary provision with a healthy surplus to absorb larger numbers of 
primary pupils feeding through at Y7 transition.  However, some secondary schools in the 
Borough are suffering from falling rolls, which if not addressed will expose them to the risk 
of becoming financially unviable.

School places as shown in the following table are the combined number of pupil places 
available in Reception to Y6 at primary phase and Y7 to Y11, and includes new schools or 
provision with a year-on-year increasing admissions number.  A single form of entry (1FE) 
primary school with 30 pupils in each year group (Reception to Y6) would have a school size 
of 210 pupils (30 * 7).  Similarly, a secondary school (Y7 – Y11) with 6 forms of entry would 
have a school size of 900 pupils (30 * 6 * 5)

The following tables represents the combined number of Reception to Y11 places in 
Hammersmith and Fulham; and the anticipated number of pupils in need of a school place 
(SRP).

2 Based on historic 2010 datasets

Page 42



11

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
16,500

17,000

17,500

18,000

18,500

19,000

19,500

20,000

20,500

School Places SRP

LBHF All Schools Roll Projections
YR to Y11 

 

Year School Places SRP
Difference

PAN minus SRP
2019 19,810 16,844 2,966 (17.6% surplus)
2020 20,008 16,903 3,105 (18.4% surplus)

2021 20,116 16,978 3,138 (18.5% surplus)

2022 20,206 17,091 3,115 (18.2% surplus)

2023 20,236 17,208 3,028 (17.6% surplus)
SRP: School Roll Projection

Imaginative and inspired solutions need to be discussed and established to protect the 
Borough’s primary and secondary provision and keep as many of our schools viable for 
years to come and ensure Hammersmith and Fulham continues to provide first class 
education for local children and young people. 

3.1. school popularity

Although popularity can be judged retrospectively by analysing the number of applications 
per school at Reception intake and Y7 transition, there is no reliable analysis to predict 
school popularity in the future.  Popularity of a school will be determined by a range of factors 
that influence parental choice at Reception intake and Y7 transition.  An increased number 
of parental preferences for a school is only a rudimentary indicator of parental demand for 
more school places in any location not an indication of actual need.  

High performing schools judged Outstanding or Good by Ofsted3 are popular choices 
amongst applicants and more likely to be oversubscribed than schools judged as Requiring 
Improvement or Inadequate.  All applicants at Reception intake and Y7 transition have the 
right to choose up to 6 schools.  Admissions for Reception intake and Y7 secondary transfer 
admissions are coordinated through the pan-London Admissions scheme.

3 Ofsted rating: O – Outstanding, G – Good, RI – Requiring Improvement, I - Inadequate

Page 43



12

The popularity of high performing schools at Reception entry and Y7 transition is most 
effectively demonstrated by the number of applications (Apps) per place (see appendices 3 
to 5).  However, obtainable and realistic parental preferences at Reception intake and Y7 
transition will lead to a more successful outcome when securing a school place.  

At Reception entry in September 2018 primary schools in the north of the borough offered 
436 (83%) out of 524 Reception places to LBHF residents.

Hammersmith and Fulham schools south of the borough, offered 932 (92%) out of 1,015 
Reception places starting in 2018 to LBHF residents.

1,314 LBHF residents applied for 1,556 Y7 places at LBHF schools during secondary 
transfer in September 2018.

986 (58%) residents were offered a Y7 place in a Hammersmith and Fulham school.  

4. Need for School Places

The combined effects of decreasing child yield and historic school expansion programmes 
has resulted in more school places available than the 5% - 10% surplus recommended by 
the DfE.  

Previous expansion programmes put in place to accommodate extra pupils from anticipated 
housing schemes across the Borough, and approval of new free school (academy) settings 
have created too many primary school places in Hammersmith and Fulham.  At secondary 
phase there is a healthy surplus to absorb larger numbers of primary pupils as they feed 
through at Y7 transition.  However, the surplus at secondary level is not evenly distributed 
and some high schools remain under subscribed.

Other factors such as the benefit cap and re-designation of large family houses into smaller 
dwellings may have also contributed to surplus places at primary level.  In addition, delays 
in the delivery of these schemes young families expected to create demand, initially at 
primary then secondary level, did not arrive but their absence was masked by the baby 
boom which started around 2011.  

The baby boom is now over.  The Borough’s nursery age population is returning to its pre-
baby-boom levels which is causing primary rolls to fall.  As birth-rates across the Borough 
decline massive surplus capacity at primary level has been exposed that will not be 
absorbed by previously anticipated families with young children moving into the Borough; 
the driving force behind the Borough’s school expansion programmes.  

Many of the agreed regeneration and housing schemes are still at feasibility stage.  When 
completed, these schemes may not attract enough families with school age children to fully 
populate our nursery, primary and secondary school settings.  Unfortunately, these 
properties may prove not genuinely affordable for Borough residents but bought by business 
or non-domicile purchasers or those whose children are already beyond school age.

4.1. how school places are projected

Page 44



13

Pupil planning relies on roll projection forecasts to assess future demand for school places 
at primary and secondary level.  The Borough subscribes to the Greater London Authority 
(GLA) School Roll Projection Service to generate School Roll Projections (SRP) and 
borough population projections on its behalf.  

Roll projections are generated annually but are not school age population projections.  
School roll projections (SRP) use population projections and other numerous indicators such 
as historic school rolls, new agreed housing developments, GP registrations and child 
benefit data.  

The calculation for generating an SRP is based on a replacement method which calculates 
year-on-year changes in cohorts by age group, 4-10-year olds (Reception - Y6) and 11-15-
year olds (Y7 - Y11) from historic roll data to create a catchment ratio.  

The Borough’s school population by age group based on a zero-development projection 
(population with no increase/decrease due to new housing developments or population 
change) is divided by the number generated by the replacement method to create a 
catchment ratio.  This is applied to a standard set of population projections which include 
population increases due to new housing developments.  The result is set of school roll 
projections as seen in the following illustration.  In the following example, zero development 
population figure was re-used as the standard set of population projections.

Primary and secondary school roll projections (SRP) is calculated separately. The primary 
roll projections are not an indication of the number secondary school places needed at Y7 
transition or additional secondary places in the future.  

4.2. primary roll projections

Within five years’ primary schools will have unacceptably high number surplus places with 
more than one quarter of places in primary school unfilled. 

Page 45



14

Primary provision in Hammersmith and Fulham is split into two Planning Areas (PA). PA1 
North (N) and PA2 South (S).  DfE guidance suggest local authorities maintain a 5% - 10% 
surplus places at primary and secondary level to offer parental choice and absorb pupil 
mobility (In-Year applications).

The next table shows over-provision of school places in maintained primary schools in both 
planning areas for the next 5 years 2019 to 2023.  

In September 2018 the number of primary pupils on roll in Reception to Y6 classes in 
Hammersmith and Fulham is 9,778.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
3,000
3,500
4,000
4,500
5,000
5,500
6,000
6,500
7,000
7,500
8,000
8,500

N (PA1) - School Places N (PA1) - SRP S (PA2) - School Places S (PA2) - SRP

Primary Roll Projection by Planning Area

Year School Places SRP
Difference 

School Places minus SRP

2019 11,791 9,671 2,120 (21.9% surplus)

2020 11,986 9,633 2,353 (24.4% surplus)

2021 12,091 9,622 2,469 (25.7% surplus)

2022 12,181 9,615 2,566 (26.7% surplus)

2023 12,211 9,662 2,549 (26.4% surplus)
SRP: School Roll Projection

Inflated primary place provision is creating instability in the Borough’s primary sector.  During 
the 2017/18 academic year, many schools were undersubscribed amounting to 16% surplus 
primary school places (13% in the north and 17% in the south).  

The latest national pupil projections4 based on school census returns from the Department 
for Education (DfE) for mainstream primary and secondary schools, show a decline in the 
primary aged population.  

4.3. secondary roll projections

4 Department for Education. National Pupil Projections - Future Trends in Pupil Numbers (SFR31/2017) July 2017

Page 46

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/627388/SFR31_2017_Projections_Text.pdf


15

Secondary roll projections only relate to Y7 to Y11 cohorts and do not include 6th form (Y12-
Y13) provision.  The current surplus of secondary places is expected to return to the 
recommended DfE tolerance with two years.  However, even though there is adequate 
secondary provision across the Borough, high schools with falling rolls will be exposed to 
the same financial unviability as those at primary level.  

There is a projected fall in secondary pupil numbers towards the end of the next decade.  
Any short to medium term increase in pupil places will result in unnecessary surplus.

In September 2018 7,344 students were on roll in Y7 to Y11 in Hammersmith and Fulham 
secondary schools.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

9,000

School Places SRP

Secondary Roll Projections

Year School Places SRP
Difference 

School Places minus SRP

2019 8,019 7,173 846 (11.8% surplus)

2020 8,022 7,270 752 (10.3% surplus)

2021 8,025 7,356 669 (9.1% surplus)

2022 8,025 7,476 549 (7.3% surplus)

2023 8,025 7,546 479 (6.3% surplus)
SRP: School Roll Projection

Although recalculated secondary school roll projections from the GLA forecast 12% surplus 
places in 2018, this surplus will fall within DfE guidelines within 5 years.

5. LBHF School Admissions, and Promoting Local Schools

The popularity of any school is based on real and perceived factors.  

School Ofsted judgments, single sex provision, religious affiliation, academic performance, 
local reputation and physical environment are all valid but sometimes unpredictable reasons 
which drive parents/carers to prefer one school over another.  

An Outstanding or Good Ofsted judgment is one indication of a successful school which 
tends to be popular with parents/carers.  Although it is harder to measure the impact of other 

Page 47



16

significant factors, such as pastoral care, inclusivity, or an individual child’s emotional well-
being on parental preference, as all can be significant factors which influence school 
preference at Reception intake and Y7 transition.  

At Reception intake and Y7 transition, parents/carers are allowed up to 6 school preferences 
(choices) with a hierarchy of first preference to sixth preference.  The popularity of high 
performing schools at Reception entry and Y7 transition is demonstrated by the number of 
first preferences.  Schools with a high number of first preferences at Reception intake and 
Y7 transition are considered to be popular schools.  Although good schools are usually 
popular and sought after, popularity is not always an accurate indicator of quality.

Some parents/carers may feel disappointment and concern at the possibility of their child 
attending an underperforming school.  At worst, enrolment at a perceived failing school may 
be considered a failure for both child and parent.  

A school’s perceived low status coupled with a disappointing Ofsted judgment can quickly 
damage a school’s reputation and impact its popularity.  Falling rolls, low parental 
preference, followed by declining league tables performance can result in a cycle that can 
transform a once popular school into one which is unviable to run.  

Apart from providing a safe, positive, learning environment where children and young people 
can learn, develop, and grow, there are many other ways a school can attract prospective 
pupils and parents/carers as well as create positive engagement with the local community 
such as;

 Self-promotion and publicity
 Engagement with the local community by providing after school access to local 

social groups or clubs.  
 Establish links with nearby nursery, primary, special, or secondary schools
 Ensure senior management has a visible presence in school and the wider 

community especially at the beginning and end of the school day
 Strive to achieve high Ofsted outcomes
 Keep its school website up-to-date and accessible

Secondary schools across the borough are encouraged to engage with external agencies 
such as Imperial College London, The British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC), London 
Academy of Music and Dramatic Art (LAMDA) and media companies in White City to nurture 
and develop long-term education-based relationships.  

The Council will continue to support and assist local schools raise their level of engagement 
with the wider community.  As ambassadors for our schools, LBHF officers working with 
children and young people of school age should promote our LA maintained schools and 
encourage parents/carers to take the opportunity to view and consider their local LBHF 
primary and secondary settings.  

Page 48



17

However, when there are high numbers of unfilled places at primary or secondary level, 
these measures will only delay but not prevent some schools with low parental preference 
and perceived as the least popular from becoming unviable.  

The Borough’s primary phase transition coordinator provides support and guidance to 
pupils, parents/carers, and schools during transition from primary Y6 to Y7 at secondary 
phase.  In addition, our primary and secondary school 'Hints and Tips’ guidance has been 
translated into Somali and Arabic, the two languages most spoken after English in 
Hammersmith and Fulham.

5.1. pupil mobility and cross border movement

There is a difference between pupil mobility and cross border movement.

Pupil mobility (In-Year applications) is when a pupil starts or leaves school outside the 
recognised joining and leaving year groups.  Starting at Reception and leaving in Y6 at 
primary level then transition at Y7 until leaving in Y11 at secondary phase is normal practice.  
Pupils who start or leave school outside the specific entry or leaving points are considered 
mobile pupils.

There are many reasons for pupil mobility such as statutory school age pupils newly arrived 
in the borough requiring a school place, children of armed forces families, families relocating 
or those whose parents may have separated, to children and young people changing school 
through choice.  

Cross border movement is when a pupil attends a school outside the borough where they 
live.  The DfE monitors the movement of pupils across borough borders.  Borough residents 
enrolled at schools outside LBHF are known as Exports.  And non-residents enrolled within 
Hammersmith and Fulham state funded schools are called Imports.  When the number of 
pupil imports is greater than pupil exports or the other way around, a local authority is known 
as a net importer/exporter of pupils.  

LBHF is a net importer of pupils at both primary and secondary level.  Which means more 
non-residents are enrolled in Hammersmith and Fulham primary and secondary schools 
than LBHF residents enrolled in other LA maintained schools across London.  

Children’s Services is keen to initiate a GDPR compliant Pan-London data sharing 
agreement to collect pupil census information for LBHF residents on roll in schools in other 
boroughs.  Business Intelligence officers are exploring the feasibility of this proposal.

5.1.1. primary pupil mobility

The percentage of primary aged pupils who enrol at Reception intake but change school 
before the usual transition from Y6 to Y7 at secondary phase has remained relatively stable 
at around ten percent since 2013.

Primary 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/13 2013/14

Late Starters 8% 9% 9% 8% 7%

Page 49



18

Early Leavers 10% 10% 11% 11% 10%

5.1.2. primary cross border movement

LBHF is currently a net importer of primary pupils.    Nine percent of primary aged LBHF 
residents attend LA maintained schools in other boroughs.  The proximity of LBHF primary 
schools to borough boundaries with RBKC, Brent, Ealing and Hounslow attract non-
residents due to these schools being the nearest local school.  Although LBHF is a net 
importer of primary pupils, residents make up almost 90% of the borough’s state maintained 
primary schools.  

The following map shows the most up to date DfE figures of cross border movement by 
primary aged pupils resident in LBHF across London.

5.1.3. secondary pupil mobility

The reasons for pupil mobility at secondary phase are generally the same as primary.  
Additionally, In-Year applications (late starters) may be due to students accepting a lower 
preference Y7 place then moving when a place at their preferred school becomes available.  
The percentage of students changing school before normal transition in Y11 has remained 
relatively stable.

Page 50



19

Secondary 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14

Starters 6% 6% 5% 6% 4%

Leavers 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Page 51



20

5.1.4. secondary cross border movement

The DfE also monitors the movement of secondary aged students across borough borders 
identifying them in the same way.  Parents of secondary aged students are more willing for 
them to travel longer distances to study at their preferred high school.  In 2018 just over half 
(54%) of the secondary school population are borough residents.  

5.1.5. independent sector

Where pupils move between state funded schools within the Borough there is no net change.  
However, pupil mobility into or out of the Private or Independent sector will show up as an 
absolute change.  Historically, Hammersmith and Fulham has had a high proportion of 
residents in Fee Paying (FP) settings.  From time to time this cohort can become an 
additional destabilising factor if the proportion changes.  Families who would traditionally 
enrol their children in fee paying settings sometimes use state funded schools for their 
primary aged children but then move back to an FP setting at secondary transfer.

DfE cross border movement datasets show the percentage of residents enrolled LA 
maintained.  A rudimentary calculation is used to calculate the percentage of residents 

Page 52



21

enrolled at independent or other educational settings which include home education, special 
schools and alternative provision settings.  In 2018 this estimate is 39% for primary level 
and 35% for secondary level. 

Phase

GLA 
housing led 

2016 
population 
baseline

Residents 
attending 

any LA 
maintained 

school

LBHF 
School 

Population

LBHF 
residents 
attending 

LBHF 
schools

Residents 
attending 

LBHF 
maintained 

school

Residents 
attending 

LBHF 
schools 
as a % of 
school 

population

Primary 39% 6,024 15,345 9,321 9,581 8,471 91% 88%
Secondary 35% 2,939 8,447 5,508 7,028 3,826 69% 54%

 Private 
Independent 

or other 
settings - (AP, 

Special, 
Home 

Education)

5.2. looked after children (LAC)

The Virtual School is responsible for the education of all Looked After Children aged 3 to 
18-years old attending schools in the Borough as well as looked after children and young 
people who are the responsibility of Hammersmith and Fulham but live and attend school 
elsewhere.  The provision aims to improve outcomes for looked after children through close 
tracking of pupils’ progress and attendance and targeting learners who need extra support.  
The team also provides support for carers.  

The staff team consists of head teacher, assistant head, four advisory teachers, an 
education support worker, and an EET personal advisor.  The Virtual School strives to give 
looked after children access to appropriate, high quality educational provision and services, 
to enable better opportunities and successful outcomes in adult life.

6. School Provision, Funding, and Investment

Sixty-two state maintained schools deliver education at nursery, primary, secondary, special 
education needs and alternative provision settings across Hammersmith and Fulham 
(LBHF). 

The number of pupils on roll in LA maintained, academy, and free schools in September 
2018 (both resident and non-resident) is 20,751, not accounting for January Reception and 
nursery intake, as follows:

• 273 at 4 LA maintained Nursery schools 
• 10,383 at 38* Primary school settings (9,584 plus 799 in nursery places) 
• 7,344 at 10 Secondary schools (6,264 plus 1,080 in 6th forms) 
• 1,307 at one All Through school (23 in nursery classes, 194 Primary, 900 

Secondary plus 190 6th form)

In addition:

• 841 at 1 Post 16 setting
• 486 at 4 Schools for children with Special Educational Needs 
• 117 at 4 Alternative Provision settings

Page 53



22

*The Fulham Bilingual delivers 28 mainstream places as part of a partnership between Holy 
Cross Catholic Primary and L'Ecole Marie D'Orliac, a French private school.

One third of primary and 10 secondary schools in LBHF are academies.  Ark Burlington 
Danes Academy is the Borough’s only All Through setting.

Phase Community
Free School 
/ Academy

Foundation or 
Voluntary 

Aided Academy

Foundation or 
Voluntary Aided 

School
Total

School Places 
Jan18

Nursery 2 2 4 n/a
Primary 13 12 12 37 11,536

Secondary 1 6 4 11 7,896
All Through* 1 1 n/a

Special 4 4 n/a
Alternative Provision 4 4 n/a

*Places at all through school are distributed across primary and secondary provision

6.1. Basic Need allocation funding

Basic Need allocations are paid to local authorities (LAs) to provide new pupil places by 
expanding maintained schools, free schools or academies or creating new schools where 
there is an identified need.  Basic need allocation is not restricted or ring-fenced so local 
authorities can make informed decisions required for school place planning. 

Local authorities are required to validate basic need funding spent on schools’ capital 
projects to the DfE through the annual School Capacity (SCAP) return. 

Local authorities and academies receive an education services grant (ESG) to support 
pupils on a per pupil rate known as the ‘general funding rate’ for services to support pupils 
at maintained schools but is paid directly to academies.   Local authorities receive an 
additional £15 (“retained duties” rate) per pupil to cover statutory requirements in maintained 
schools and academies.  Additional funding includes: 16-19 funding, pre- and post-opening 
grants for new academy convertors, sponsored academies and new free schools and other 
specific grants for schools.

6.2. schools funding formulae

National funding formula (NFF) uses the number of pupils on roll in primary and secondary 
each autumn term to calculate how much money will be allocated to the Borough’s 
Designated Schools Grant (DSG).  NFF for early years is calculated during the spring term.   
Declining primary and secondary pupil numbers means less money is allocated to the DSG 
which is the main revenue funding distributed through local authorities to schools.

The following funding formulae definitions are derived from DfE guidance.  

schools block - is a funding allocation based on the number of pupils on roll in primary 
and secondary schools as reported in the annual October pupil census.  The Education 
Skills Funding Agency use primary and secondary roll numbers to calculate schools 
block funding.  Fluctuations in primary and secondary pupil roll numbers will be reflected 
in the DSG revenue funding allocated to the borough in the next financial year

Page 54



23

high needs block (HNB) - a child has ‘high needs’ if their education typically costs more 
than £10,000 per year.  High needs funding supports 0-25-year-olds with SEN and 
disabilities (SEND) and school aged children and young people who are not in school 
because they are excluded or children and young people on roll in pupil referral 
units/Alternative Provision (AP) and hospital schools.  

Past spending patterns inform HNB funding allocations as well as adjustments taking 
account the expanded 0-25 age range for SEND and other funding changes introduced 
in 2013.  

Future Schools block and High Needs block funding are currently protected at existing 
funding levels.  Both funding blocks include additional Pupil Premium funding for 
disadvantaged pupils.

However, managing the Hammersmith and Fulham’s HNB cost of delivery within economic 
constraints can only be achieved if expansion of local provision replaces existing out of-
borough arrangements at equivalent or lower costs.

early years block – is made up of six funding streams:

early years entitlement for disadvantaged two-year olds
early years universal entitlement for three and four-year olds 
early years additional entitlement for three and four-year old children of eligible working 
parents 
supplementary funding for Maintained Nursery Schools (MNS) 
Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) 
Disability Access Fund (DAF) 

The Early Years’ National Funding Formula (EYNFF) for LA maintained nursery schools and 
PVI settings generates funding allocations based on the number of nursery aged pupils 
recorded in the annual Early Years census and nursery pupils recorded in the termly school 
census in January.  The EYNFF will bring the early years’ block allocation in line with 
schools’ block funding formulae for primary and secondary schools.  Changes to the EYNFF 
which are set to take effect in 2020/21 will restrict local authorities financially assisting 
maintained nursery schools through additional lump sum top-up funding.  

6.3. planning and infrastructure contributions: CIL and S106

The Borough has collected Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) since 2015.  All 
departments across the authority are invited to bid for a share of the levy.  Most 
developments will be assessed using CIL, although S106 funding will be triggered if a 
development or regeneration scheme is outside the CIL regime and has an impact on the 
local community.  

Development schemes that trigger zero CIL will be assessed using S106 tests.  The Council 
is guided by national policy and regulations on these matters 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations.  In summary, any S106 obligation must 
meet the relevant tests:

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
 directly related to the development
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations


24

6.4. DfE allocations for Basic Need provision

The Basic Need allocation grant reflects the need for new school places and is based on 
the Council’s own statistical returns which are part of the annual School Capacity (SCAP) 
return.  

The allocation of Basic Need grants since 2013 has been as follows:

Basic Need Allocation 2013 to 2015 (2 years) £8,491,985

Basic Need Allocation 2016-2017 (1 year) £144,202

Basic Need Allocation 2017-2018 (1 year) £424,390

Basic Need Allocation 2018-2020 (2 years) NIL

Basic Need Allocation 2020-2021 (1 year) £1,726,638

6.5. investment programme

The schools’ estate must be comprehensively reassessed to identify school assets in need 
of restoration, refurbishment, and regeneration, or sites that should be released for 
redevelopment to generate income. 

Children’s Services has placed a bid for around £17m from the Community Infrastructure 
Levy to support school condition and capital programmes around the Borough to restore the 
school estate during the term of this document.  Coherent, imaginative, and inventive 
investment programmes to restore the schools’ estate across Hammersmith and Fulham 
must be agreed by the Council.  

6.6. capital board school regeneration programme

The Council has set up a school led board that will develop a business case for capital 
investment in school across the borough.

7. Impact of School Rolls on Financial Stability

7.1. how school funding works

School funding is based on a monetary value assigned to the number of pupils on roll in 
nursery, primary, and secondary on a specific day each academic year.  In 2018/19 each 
LBHF community or voluntary aided (VA) primary place equates to £5,309 which is used to 
maintain the fixed and variable running costs of a school but this funding allocation can 
change from year to year. The cost per place for academies is not available to the Borough.

The following illustration shows the roll count (pupils) as income or pupil funding allocations 
at a 1FE primary school starting with 210 pupils on roll.  

Page 56



25

A 25 pupil decrease in roll (185) will have an immediate impact on school income.  The effect 
of continued falling rolls over the next two or three years will mean there is insufficient 
income to cover salary expenditure.  During the period Projected Year End 3 to Projected 
Year End 4 agency staff have replaced permanent teaching staff as falling rolls affect staff 
recruitment and retention which has increased the spend on salaries.  The costs of 
maintaining the school building will be fixed but the other costs identified as learning 
resources are associated with maintaining pupil places. 

8. Housing Regeneration and Development

Delays in delivery of housing and regeneration schemes have impacted on school place 
provision.  Some of the regeneration schemes are at least 5 years behind schedule and not 
expected to begin construction within the next 12 – 18 months.

The following regeneration schemes will be monitored.  Additional provision may be required 
if greater need emerges once current capacity has been exhausted: 

8.1. regeneration area 1 – North

2016-2021 2021-2026 2026-2035

Ar
ea

U
ni

ts Child Yield Solution

U
ni

ts Child Yield Solution Units
Total

0.5 FE 
primary

2.5 FE 
primary

White 
City

2,200

0.5 FE 
secondary

Existing 
schools will 
absorb 
pupil place 
demand

3,500

1.0 FE 
secondary

New 
provision 
for both 

(see 
comment 

below)

300 6,000

Page 57



26

Old Oak
Planning responsibility for Old Oak is now the responsibility of the Mayoral Development 

Corporation Old Oak Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC). 

EdCity

The new EdCity development will create 132 new dwellings, 71 affordable and 61 private rental 
homes.  Reprovide Ark Swift Primary Academy into a state-of-the-art school.  Rebuild and increase 

capacity at Harmony Neighbourhood Nursery from 46 places to 75.  Create a new OnSide Youth 
Zone for local young people aged 8-19, or up to 25 with additional needs and a council-operated 

adult education and community learning centre.

 white city

Demand resulting from additional housing in this area can be absorbed by existing schools 
such as ARK Swift and Old Oak primary schools, and Phoenix Academy before additional 
expansion programmes or building new schools would need to be considered.

 old oak park royal regeneration area

Set up in 2014, the Old Oak Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) is the planning 
authority for the regeneration area which also includes parts of Brent and Ealing.  Population 
forecasts relating to the OPDC development area in LBHF were previously included in the 
Borough’s housing data submitted to the GLA, but are now reported by OPDC.

Prior to OPDC becoming responsible for the development, the Borough initiated several 
primary school expansion schemes in anticipation of development.  As a result, the Council 
has created sufficient places for the regeneration.  

Children’s services have been in discussion with OPDC and commented on its Social 
Infrastructure Needs Study.  Surplus primary school places in the north of the Borough can 
absorb projected demand in phase 1 and 2 of the development.  

OPDC Early Indicative Housing Delivery
Years Development Phase Delivery Phase Unit Delivery

0-5 2017 - 2021 1 2,100
6-20 2022 - 2037 2 19,600
20+ 2037+ (post plan period) 3 4,000

 EdCity

In March 2018 planning approval was granted to Ark Academy Trust for the redevelopment 
of the site comprising Ark Swift Primary Academy, Harmony Neighbourhood Nursery, and 
the Adult Community Learning Centre in White City.  The redevelopment of the site will 
create an education hub which will provide the local community a modern, high-quality, safe 
environment in which to learn, work and live.  Ark Swift and the Adult Community and 
Learning Centre will be rebuilt.  Harmony Neighbourhood Nursery will also be rebuilt and 
expanded to take up to 75 children.  In addition, the development will create over 130 new 
homes for key workers and around 12,000 m2 of new office space.  

Page 58

http://arkswift.org/
http://harmonynursery.co.uk/
http://www.onsideyouthzones.org/
http://www.onsideyouthzones.org/


27

8.2. regeneration area 2 – South

The LBHF Cabinet decision to provide more genuinely affordable rented housing and low-
cost home ownership opportunities in the borough is likely to increase the number of housing 
units in this development.  

 south Fulham riverside regeneration area (SFRRA)

At primary phase Sulivan, Langford and Thomas’s Academy, and Hurlingham Academy at 
secondary level, have capacity to absorb the demand for school places within the 
regeneration area.  Once firm developments plans are made this will be reassessed. 

2016-2021 2021-2026
2026-
2035

Total
Area

Units
Child 
Yield

Solution Units Child Yield Solution Units

Primary
1 FE

Primary
1 FE

South 
Fulham 

Riverside
2,700

Secondary
0.5FE

New 
provision 
already 

secured in 
Fulham 

Regeneration 
Area (FRA)

Expand

800

Secondary
0.5FE

Expand 
existing 
primary 

and 
secondary

500 4,000

 Fulham gasworks imperial road

The development will occupy 6.33 hectares of land known as Fulham Gasworks located in 
the south east of the LBHF approximately 0.5km from Fulham Town Centre in Sands End 
Ward. 

 Fulham regeneration area (including Earl’s Court)

A requirement for primary places will be dependent on the final outcome of the Earl’s Court 
development proposals and will be reassessed at this time.

8.3. growth and place - school place provision

School roll projections are recalculated annually.  As supplementary school place planning 
evidence becomes available these data will be shared with Growth and Place colleagues to 
reflect the predicted need for primary and secondary school places across the Borough.  

9. School Estate and Maintenance

School building condition survey reports are either out of date or due for review.  Over time, 
the condition of many school buildings across the Borough has deteriorated.  Investment is 
now needed to restore and update the Borough’s maintained school buildings to ensure they 
continue to provide suitable places for educating children and young people for many years 
into the future.  

Page 59



28

School building condition surveys are scheduled to be carried out beginning in the 2018/19 
autumn term.  Fire door surveys as well as window, flooring and roof inspections will inform 
the scope and cost of remedial works to be carried out.  

The DfE School Condition Allocation (SCA) is an annual funding stream set aside for the 
maintenance and upkeep of maintained community and VA school buildings.  However, the 
SCA is not sufficient to meet the costs associated with the extent of remedial work required 
to make good the Borough’s schools estate.  

CHS has submitted a £17m funding allocation bid for a share future Borough’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions to help fund future school condition leads. 

The Borough is engaging with the London and Westminster Diocesan Boards to develop 
ways of working together to that will benefit from economies of scale and pooling schools 
condition allocation funds to create cost savings for the Borough’s community and 
voluntary aided school buildings condition programmes.

10. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion

Demand for SEND provision is increasing.  London Councils publication ‘Do the Maths 2017’ 
has reported that since 2010 the number of children and young people in education with a 
statement of SEN or Education, Health, and Care Plan (EHCP) has increased by 22 per 
cent5.  The range of SEND provision required to meet the complexity of need and demand 
for specialist schools cost an average of £69,055 per school place in 2017 almost three 
times more than a mainstream school place.  

The DfE pledged to commit £215m to the SEND capital funding budget then increased this 
amount by an additional £50m from the department.  London Councils estimated most local 
authorities in London had collectively over-spent their high needs revenue allocation by an 
amount significantly above what was received from central government.

LBHF has an overspend of £6.5m in the high needs block plus and an overspend of 
approximately £1m per year for SEN transport which are met by the Council’s core budget.  
In 2015 new recording of SEND became mandatory.  To comply with the new regulations 
all residents with SEND were reassessed.  The cost of reassessment placed a heavy burden 
on LBHF’s high needs block.  This financial burden has also affected many other boroughs 
across London and nationally.  

Working creatively and collaboratively with primary and secondary schools across the 
borough, consideration must be given to utilising surplus places at primary phase to develop 
more inclusive SEND provision in mainstream settings to decrease the need for placement 
outside of the borough except for a very small number of those with the most complex needs 
that cannot be met locally. 

5 Do the Maths 2017

Page 60

https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/children-and-young-people/education-and-school-places/do-maths-2017/introduction-do


29

10.1. SEN provision

Four dedicated LA maintained special schools are all based north of the borough.  

DfE SEN&D categories Detailed needs descriptors – census categories 

Specific Learning Difficulties (SpLD)

Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD)

Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD)
Cognition and Learning (CL)

Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulties(PMLD) 

Developmental language delay (DLD) 

Speech and language and communication needs (SLCN) Communication and Interaction (CI)

Autistic spectrum conditions/ Disorder (ASC/ ASD)

Hearing impairment (HI) 

Visual impairment (VI)

Multisensory impairment (MSI)
Physical and/ or Sensory (PS)

Physical disability

Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) Social, Emotional and Mental Health

No Specialist Assessment NSA) SEN Support but no specialist assessment of type of need 

Page 61



30

At the start of the spring term 2017/18 academic year 479 pupils were recorded on roll at 
LBHF special schools for children with SEND in the January 2018 school census.

Special School Resident Non-resident Roll

Cambridge School 26 34% 51 66% 77

Jack Tizard School 47 69% 21 31% 68

Queensmill School 130 54% 109 46% 239

Woodlane High School 49 52% 46 48% 95

All Pupils 252 53% 227 47% 479

The special schools in LBHF deliver wide-ranging provision.

 Cambridge school is a special school for secondary aged pupils with Speech, 
Language, and Communication needs (SLCN), and students with complex needs, 
including learning and Cognition difficulties, and Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) issues

 Jack Tizard is an all through special school for for children and young people aged 
2 to 19-years-old with a range of Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD) including 
Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulties (PMLD).

 Queensmill is a special school for children with Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 
who are working at academic levels well-below age-related expectations.  Q6 – 
Queensmill is the school’s Post 19 provision to support the transition to 
independence and employment.  The school also delivers primary resourced 
provision at Fulham Primary and secondary resourced provision at Fulham Cross 
Girls’ and Fulham College Boys’ schools.

 Woodlane High School is a secondary special school and medical needs unit for 
pupils aged 11 to 16 years old with complex and wide ranging special educational 
and medical needs.  

William Morris Sixth Form (WMSF) has 50 high needs places funded from the Borough’s 
High Needs Block allocation.  The school is keen to develop improved pathways to 
employment, and a pre-internship model.

West London College is a key partner linked in with the Borough’s pathways to employment.  
Although at present a small number of H&F residents take up the 120 places offered by this 
provider there are financial gains as travel costs are lower than travelling to college provision 
in other boroughs. 

The Bridge Alternative Provision (TBAP) Multi Academy Trust provides SEN places at 
primary and secondary phase.  Although the current model offered by TBAP is expensive it 
avoids the use of provision out of borough.  At present LBHF has no specific specialist SEMH 
provision in a school setting.  Although TBAP is used to fill gaps in the service, careful 
consideration should be given to whether this model of delivery is best practice.

10.2. SEND schools and resource bases

Based on January 2018 Census figures Hammersmith and Fulham has issued Education 
Health Care Plans (EHCP) well above national and London averages.  The high needs 

Page 62



31

resources should be used differently to enhance provision for SEND in mainstream schools 
so more children and young people with SEND can access the right provision and SEN 
support. 

Resourced based provision in LBHF primary and secondary schools offer a mix of both 
specialist and mainstream and can offer inclusive pathways for further integration into 
mainstream on a phased basis giving children and young people the confidence and 
opportunity for more independent learning away from specialist settings.  

LBHF currently maintains five resource bases for children and young people with High 
Needs in five local mainstream schools.  Fulham Primary, Fulham College Boys’ and Fulham 
Cross Girls’ all cater for pupils with autism with staff managed by Queensmill special school.  
The resource unit at Miles Coverdale for pupils with developmental language difficulties 
(DLD) and Queens Manor unit for pupils with learning difficulties are run and managed by 
each school’s head teacher and governing body. 

10.3. special school cross border movement

The following map shows the most up to date DfE figures for cross border movement by 
SEN pupils aged between 4 and 18 years old (Reception - Y14) resident in LBHF.

Page 63



32

10.4. education health care plans (EHCP)

In January 2018 nearly 50% of pupils enrolled in LBHF special schools are non-residents.  
There were 465 pupils enrolled in LBHF special schools with an EHC plan or Statement of 
SEN recorded January 2018: 240 (51%) LBHF residents and 225 (49%) non-residents.  The 
following tables show the number of resident and non-resident pupils enrolled in LBHF 
special schools.

Special School ASD HI MLD OTH PD PMLD SEMH SLCN SLD SPLD VI Residents
% 

Residents
Cambridge School 6 0 11 2 0 0 0 0 2 5 0 26 34%
Jack Tizard School 7 0 0 0 1 19 0 0 20 0 0 47 69%
Queensmill School 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 127 54%
Woodlane High School 18 0 5 4 3 0 1 6 0 3 0 40 47%

Residents 156 0 16 6 4 19 1 7 23 8 0 240 52%

LBHF Residents with EHC Plan or Statement of SEN
on roll at LBHF Special Schools
as at January 2018 Pupil Census

Special School ASD HI MLD OTH PD PMLD SEMH SLCN SLD SPLD VI
Non

Residents
% Non-

Residents
Cambridge School 6 0 25 4 0 1 0 6 3 6 0 51 66%
Jack Tizard School 1 0 0 0 0 16 0 1 3 0 0 21 31%
Queensmill School 107 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 107 46%
Woodlane High School 12 1 4 7 2 0 2 12 2 3 1 46 53%

Non-Residents 126 1 29 11 2 17 2 19 8 9 1 225 48%

Non-Residents with EHC Plan or Statement of SEN
on roll at LBHF Special Schools
as at January 2018 Pupil Census

In line with SEND reforms transition arrangements, since 2015 children and young people 
with a statement of SEN have been reassessed and issued with an Education Health Care 
Plan6 

There are 1437 state funded special schools recorded in London in the January 2018 pupil 
census.  Hammersmith and Fulham has four LA maintained special schools which is in line 
with the London average for special school provision.

Some of the contributing factors for the increase in demand for special school places 
nationally can be attributed to the changing education landscape including the focus on 
academic attainment and the assessment systems, changes to the National Curriculum and 
increased competition from other providers.  

The following extract from the DfE Special educational needs in England: 2018 Statistical 
First Release (SFR) dataset shows the number of pupils on roll at LBHF special schools in 
January 2018 with ASD recorded as their primary need.  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-educational-needs-sen

6 Source: SEN2 2010-2018
7 School Pupils and their characteristics 2018 LA tables

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-educational-needs-sen
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2018


33

Pupils with SEN
by their primary type of need

January 2018
Autistic Spectrum Disorder

Number %

ENGLAND 33,601 28.5
LONDON 5,828 36.2

Inner London 2,514 45.6
Outer London 3,314 31.2

Hammersmith and Fulham 287 54.7

In January 2018 pupils with ASD make-up 60% of the special school cohort compared to 
16% of all pupils with ASD on roll in the borough.  Pupils with ASD on roll at Queensmill 
special school equate to 43% of the borough’s ASD cohort.

All pupils
on roll at

Special School
January 2018

Au
tis

tic
 S

pe
ct

ru
m

 
Di

so
rd

er

He
ar

in
g 

Im
pa

irm
en

t

M
od

er
at

e 
Le

ar
ni

ng
 

Di
ff

ic
ul

ty

O
th

er
 d

iff
ic

ul
ty

 /
 

di
so

rd
er

Ph
ys

ic
al

 D
is

ab
ili

ty

Pr
of

ou
nd

 &
 

M
ul

tip
le

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
Di

ff
ic

ul
ty

So
ci

al
, E

m
ot

io
na

l &
 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

Sp
ee

ch
, L

an
gu

ag
e 

&
 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

N
ee

ds
Se

ve
re

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
Di

ff
ic

ul
ty

Sp
ec

ifi
c 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 
Di

ff
ic

ul
ty

Vi
su

al
 Im

pa
irm

en
t

Roll

Cambridge 12 36 6 1 6 5 11 77

Jack Tizard 8 1 35 1 23 68

Queensmill 237 1 1 239

Woodlane High 30 1 9 11 5 12 18 2 6 1 95

Pupils 287 1 45 17 6 36 12 26 31 17 1 479

The following table illustrates the over representation of pupils with an EHC Plan or 
Statement of SEN with a primary need of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in LBHF special 
schools.

All pupils with EHC plan or Statement of SEN
on roll at Special School

as at January 2018
Special School ASD HI MLD OTH PD PMLD SEMH SLCN SLD SPLD VI All Pupils

Cambridge 12 36 6 1 6 5 11 77

Jack Tizard 8 1 35 1 23 68

Queensmill 232 1 1 234

Woodlane High 30 1 9 11 5 3 18 2 6 1 86

Pupils 282 1 45 17 6 36 3 26 31 17 1 465

10.5. SEND pupil roll projection and place planning

Children’s Services has generated a very rudimentary SEND pupil projection model based 
on the make-up of the residents with any SEND provision on roll at LBHF schools as at 
January 2018 pupil census.  The DfE recognise the SEND pupil cohort as children and 
young people aged between 4 years old and 18 years old (Reception to Y14) on roll in 
primary, secondary and special schools.  For the purposes of this projection model, the 
number of residents aged between 4 years old and 18 years old were calculated year on 

Page 65



34

year over time using the 2016 GLA Borough Preferred Option (BPO) population projections 
as a baseline.  

The cohort of Borough residents with SEND on roll in LBHF schools has been arranged in 
order of Primary SEN Type.  Each Type is then calculated as a percentage of the whole 
group.  The percentage for each primary SEN has been applied to LBHF’s 4 to 18-year-old 
population for each of the following years 2019/20 to 2022/23.  The calculations take no 
account of birth rate increase/decrease, internal/external migration or any other factors that 
may affect the size of the cohort over time.

The following table is a rudimentary and unsophisticated SEND pupil roll projection which 
should only be relied upon as an approximate indication of future SEND need or 
requirement.  The table should be used only to inform discussion on how SEN provision 
should evolve and develop.  

Around 8.5% of residents on roll in LBHF schools present with a special education need.  
SEND is separated into 13 different types of need.  The most common SEND need types in 
LBHF are Speech, Language & Communication 2.96%, Social, Emotional & Mental Health 
1.42%, Autistic Spectrum Disorder 1.21%, and Specific Learning Difficulty 1.12%.

Rudimentary pupil projection in year groups Reception - Y14 
LBHF RESIDENTS aged 4-yrs -18yrs

SEND Type

Residents 
with SEN 

Jan 18 
pupil 

census 

Residents 
aged 4-18 
as a % of 
Borough 

population 
2017/18

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

20
20

/2
1

20
21

/2
2

20
22

/2
3

ASD Autistic Spectrum Disorder 344 1.21% 341 344 347 351 357 362 368

HI Hearing Impairment 31 0.11% 31 31 31 32 32 33 33

MLD Moderate Learning Difficulty 254 0.89% 251 254 256 259 263 268 272

MSI Multi-Sensory Impairment 6 0.02% 6 6 6 6 6 6 6

NSA
No Specialist Assessment (for type 
of need) 59 0.21% 58 59 59 60 61 62 63

OTH Other difficulty / disorder 96 0.34% 95 96 97 98 100 101 103

PD Physical Disability 40 0.14% 40 40 40 41 41 42 43

PMLD
Profound & Multiple Learning 
Difficulty 22 0.08% 22 22 22 22 23 23 24

SEMH Social, Emotional & Mental Health 404 1.42% 400 404 407 413 419 426 432

SLCN
Speech, Language & 
Communication Needs 842 2.96% 834 842 849 860 873 887 901

SLD Severe Learning Difficulty 35 0.12% 35 35 35 36 36 37 37

SPLD Specific Learning Difficulty 318 1.12% 315 318 321 325 330 335 340

VI Visual Impairment 17 0.06% 17 17 17 17 18 18 18

Total 2468 8.67% 2,444 2,468 2,488 2,520 2,559 2,600 2,641 

Borough Population aged 4-18 years old 28,180 28,461 28,686 29,065 29,515 29,978 30,461 

10.6. inclusion

The term inclusion is founded on the idea that “we learn better together”.  This not a new 
concept but one that has been enhanced and refined over 30-years of peer-review and 
academic study.  Although the aim of inclusion in schools is for children and young people 

Page 66



35

with disabilities to learn alongside their non-disabled peers in a mainstream setting, all 
students can benefit from the subtle process of gradual and passive exchange of ideas, 
knowledge and behaviour through participation, understanding and learning in an inclusive 
classroom environment.  Positive behavioural outcomes and social relationships can flourish 
within mainstream classrooms at primary and secondary level.

Schools across Hammersmith and Fulham are committed to providing inclusive classes 
which are accessible by all children and young people educated in our schools.  However, 
the scope and delivery of pupil inclusion in LBHF schools will depend on how best practice 
guides how students are taught and a recognition that any inclusion policy can never be a 
one-size-fits-all approach.  

To achieve a complete inclusion policy at primary and secondary level, special school, and 
mainstream educators, working collaboratively, can ensure children and young people 
achieve the best attainment outcomes in settings which are wide ranging and 
comprehensive.

11. Alternative Provision

Alternative Provision (AP) is a short-term solution to support pupils who would not receive 
suitable education for reasons such as exclusion, behavioural issues, refusal to attend 
school due to emotional distress, or illness.  The main outcome for pupils referred to an AP 
setting is eventual re-integration into mainstream learning.  

Alternative Provision is education outside a mainstream school setting and can be arranged 
by local authorities or schools.  In LBHF alternative provision arrangements are delivered 
by The Bridge Alternative Provision (TBAP) Multi Academy Trust (MAT).

TBAP primary provision at Courtyard AP Academy and its secondary equivalents The Bridge 
AP Academy, and TBAP 16-19 Academic AP Academy deliver commissioned places for 
pupils in LBHF, RBKC and Westminster.  Westside AP is not part of the MAT but TBAP 
provides quality assurance for this school.  

Alternative Provision
January 2018 Resident Non-resident Roll

Bridge AP Academy 71 89% 9 11% 80

Courtyard AP Academy 9 60% 6 40% 15

TBAP 16-19 Academic AP Academy 6 30% 14 70% 20

Westside Academy Trust* 4 13% 28 88% 32

All pupils 90 61% 57 39% 147
*‘Spot’ purchase places

All schools are expected to employ strategies to avoid pupils being removed from 
mainstream.  90 residents, and 57 non-resident pupils required support at LBHF AP settings 
in 2017/18.  Under the Borough’s Local Offer, Children’s Services (CHS) spends 
approximately £1,747,728 commissioning temporary provision of places for vulnerable 
pupils at TBAP where pupils access high quality alternative provision for learners at risk of 
temporary or permanent exclusion at primary, secondary and post-16 level.  

Page 67



36

Exclusion data is reported one year in arrears.  The 2016/17 exclusions datasets from the 
DfE show 15 pupils were permanently excluded from Hammersmith and Fulham schools 
during this period.  Pupils are permanently excluded for a variety of reasons which include 
bullying, persistent disruptive behaviour, theft and, verbal abuse and threatening behaviour.  

For schools to become more inclusive environments; where school, pupil, parents and CHS 
officers work collaboratively to keep pupils at risk of exclusion on roll and in mainstream 
education.  A decision to permanently exclude any pupil should only occur when all other 
strategies employed by the school have been exhausted. 

LBHF schools will continue to seek to avoid pupils at the risk of being removed from school 
or integrate pupils into another setting.  Unfortunately, at secondary phase, first time, 
permanently excluded pupils face difficulty in securing a suitable alternative school place 
able to meet their needs.  If a pupil is permanently excluded twice the legal mechanism 
governing permanent exclusions allows mainstream schools to resist accepting them. 

12. Secondary Education (11-18-years-old)

90% of secondary schools in Hammersmith and Fulham have been judged by Ofsted as 
Outstanding or Good.  

Secondary provision in the Hammersmith and Fulham builds on excellent pupil performance 
at primary phase.  Y7 transition arrangements ensure Y6 pupils feel secure moving to new, 
larger high school.

There are 10 secondary schools, one Alternative Provision and three 14- 19 providers 
delivering academic and vocational study programmes in LBHF.  Secondary education in 
Hammersmith and Fulham is diverse and provides opportunities and support for children 
and young people to succeed at all stages of education.  

Ten of 11 Hammersmith and Fulham secondary school settings have academy status, 
several deliver 16-18 provision.  William Morris Sixth Form is a maintained local authority 
secondary school delivering 14–19 provision.  

The table below shows 6th Form provision at Y12 in Hammersmith and Fulham at the start 
of the 2018/19 academic year.

Secondary School 6th Form Provision 14 to 19 Providers
Ark Burlington Danes Ealing Hammersmith and West London College
Hammersmith Academy Fulham Enterprise Studio
Hurlingham Academy
Lady Margaret
London Oratory
Sacred Heart
West London Free School
William Morris Sixth Form
TBAP 16-19 Academic AP Academy

Page 68



37

12.1. key stage 3 (Y7-Y9)

All secondary schools across the borough offer a broad and balanced education programme 
which follows the National Curriculum but have some flexibility and autonomy about 
curriculum decisions where appropriate. 

There is no national external assessment system at Key Stage 3.  Schools are encouraged 
to design their own assessment procedures which are expected to demonstrate how much 
progress pupils are making from their various academic starting points.  However, following 
the Ofsted publication, ‘The Wasted Years’ there is a renewed focus on pupil attainment at 
Key Stage 3. 

12.2. key stage 4 (Y10-Y11)

Standards in Hammersmith and Fulham schools at Key Stage 4 are high and this is reflected 
in a number of measures.

In 2017, Hammersmith and Fulham scored 0.17 on the Progress 8 measure which is a 
national comparison of pupils’ KS4 GCSE results to other pupils, with similar prior 
attainment.  LBHF KS4 students scored 0.2 above the national average (-)0.03.  Attainment 
for Borough students achieving eight qualifications including English and maths in the 
Attainment 8 measure is equally impressive.  Nearly 60% of LBHF students achieved this 
measure compared to 46% across England and Wales.  Over half (53%) of LBHF students 
achieved Grade 5 (strong pass) or higher in English and maths 10 percentage points above 
the national average 42.7%.  

Just over one third (36%) of LBHF schools achieved EBacc (English Baccalaureate) the DfE 
performance measure for schools.  The EBacc measure includes English Language and 
Literature, Maths, the Sciences, Geography or History and a language at KS4.  
Hammersmith and Fulham schools achieved well above the 21.3% national average. 

Provisional 2018 results see Hammersmith and Fulham students out-perform students 
across inner London and nationally for all key measures at KS4 which illustrates the high 
level of achievement being maintained by LBHF secondary schools.

PROVISIONAL
2018 KS4 ATTAINMENT

Subject H&F National
LBHF

Difference
(+/-)

Inner London
LBHF

Difference
(+/-)

Attainment 8 52.7 44.3 + 8.4 48.1 + 4.6
Progress 8 0.34 -0.08 + .42 0.18 + 0.16

L9 - L5
English and Maths 54.6% 39.9% + 14.7% 46.1% + 8.5%

L9 - L4 
English and Maths 70.5% 59.1% + 11.4% 65.8% + 4.7%

English EBacc APS 4.84 3.83 + 1.01 4.30 + .54
APS Average Points Score

Page 69



38

12.3. key stage 5 (Y12-Y13)

Most post-16 providers in Hammersmith and Fulham offer a combination of A level and 
limited Applied Vocational Courses which mirrors this type of provision offered across 
England and Wales.

Progress and attainment at A-Level is on par with national levels and the borough maintains 
a 95% completion rate at KS5 in line with the national average.  Although pupils attaining 3 
A-Levels at grades AAB including two facilitating subjects: Maths and Further Maths, English 
Literature, Physics, Biology, Chemistry, Geography, History, and Languages (classical and 
Modern) most often required by Russell Group Universities is below the national average. 

Many post-16 providers in school 6th Form settings face the challenge of economies of scale.  
School 6th Forms sometimes struggle to deliver the wide range of academic and vocational 
courses which larger providers can offer.  In September 2020 T-Levels, a new industry led 
vocational qualification, will be rolled out in pilot schemes across the country.  T-Levels will 
be awarded at Level 3 (A-Level) in key areas such as Engineering, Health and Performing 
Arts. 

13. OFSTED Inspections and New Policies

In Hammersmith and Fulham 90% of secondary schools and 97% of primary schools have 
been judged as Good or Outstanding by Ofsted.  The Borough’s only all through school 
has recently been judged Requires Improvement (RI) 

The current Ofsted inspection framework is in consultation.  The new inspection framework 
will be in place in September 2019.  It is anticipated there will be a renewed emphasis on 
curriculum and pupil knowledge.  Guidance on the final framework is due in summer 2019. 

New policy directions at secondary phase will include updated National Funding Formula 
(NFF) for all schools and its implications for school funding; a new Ofsted framework; school-
based undergraduate degree for secondary school phase trainees designed to address 
teacher recruitment and retention; and GCSEs grades 9 to 1 embedded in all subjects.

14. Conclusion

In conclusion there are too many unfilled primary school places in Hammersmith and Fulham 
but no anticipated need for structural change at secondary level.  However, even though 
there is adequate provision across secondary phase, schools with falling rolls will face the 
same financial unviability as those at primary level.

Over the next ten years (2018/19 – 2028/29) surplus capacity in LBHF primary schools is 
currently predicted to average at around 23% (22.6%).  There is currently 17% surplus 
capacity at primary level.  A surplus of around 7% will provide sufficient capacity within the 
DfE recommended 5% and 10% tolerance to allow for parental choice and pupil mobility.  

Without intervention there is only one possible outcome; leave primary place provision and 
falling rolls to grow organically adversely affecting the viability of schools across the Borough 

Page 70



39

in a chaotic manner.  However, a decrease of around 16% of primary places which equates 
to 35 classes will improve stability for all schools currently at risk.  

The first way to improve the current situation is to avoid making it any worse.  This strategy 
therefore recommends that no new primary or secondary expansion programmes be agreed 
in the medium to long term (5 to 10 years).  

Children’s Services will work with Planning colleagues and developers to ensure that 
planning applications for new primary or secondary schools will only be agreed after surplus 
places in established schools near the proposed development fall below the DfE 5% 
minimum.  

Management of the school estate is particularly important now as financial restraint is putting 
school funding under greater pressure.  Any financial contribution from development or 
regeneration schemes should be used to refurbish and improve existing school facilities 
without creating unnecessary additional school places.

Reduced demand for school places has resulted in some primary schools becoming 
undersubscribed.  This level of surplus, if allowed to continue, will have a drastic effect on 
those schools which are already likely to be vulnerable.  Without action this process with 
affect schools in a hap-hazard manner, be unpredictable and prove difficult to manage.  The 
worst consequence is most likely to affect pupils on roll at schools with insufficient resources 
to deliver a good quality education.  

Moving forward, we will actively encourage schools in areas where surplus capacity is 
highest to work together in the interests of supporting each other and the local community.  
This can be achieved by co-ordinating reduced published admissions numbers (PAN), 
working together as federations or collaborating in other ways to protect their future viability.

Although the issues affecting SEN and Alternative Provision are outlined above, the detailed 
planning needed to unpick them cannot be fully addressed in this strategy because special 
education is a uniquely complex area.  Various factors related to SEND and Alternative 
Provision will influence its delivery.  The high cost associated to this provision and current 
financial pressure on these services needs to be addressed.  

15. Recommendations

It is recommended that:

1. The Borough address primary surplus by assisting schools in areas of greatest over-
provision to reduce their PAN.  And, working with the Regional Schools 
Commissioner as necessary, develop a collaborative approach for ensuring future 
viability for primary schools which may include shared staff and resources, shared 
sites, and other efficiency initiatives.

2. Secondary schools nurture and develop education-based relationships with external 
agencies such as Imperial College London, The BBC, LAMDA, and media 
companies in White City.

Page 71



40

3. LBHF schools revive and restore the unique appeal of local schools through 
advertising and re-branding to attract more resident applications.  Influences which 
determine and drive parental preference at Reception intake and Y7 transition will 
be monitored, analysed and feedback to head teachers and governing bodies to 
support this initiative.  

4. A new Children’s Services School Federation and Collaboration Policy be drafted to 
protect and support vulnerable schools.  The policy should encourage schools to 
work collaboratively or federate if certain trigger conditions are met e.g. significant 
fall in pupil rolls, a Head teacher retires/resigns or the school is judged Requiring 
Improvement (RI) by Ofsted.

5. In response to any planning applications that propose the creation of additional 
school places and/or which impact significantly on the quality of the physical 
environment for a school, the Council will use the School Organisation and 
Investment Strategy as a material planning consideration in considering the need 
for such proposals. 

6. There should be a detailed review of SEND and Alternative provisions policy and 
strategy to assess likely future needs taking into account:

a. Changes in the incidence of different categories of need;
b. Developments in medical and professional practice affecting the kind of 

settings deemed most appropriate for them; and
c. Strategies for addressing resource constraints
d. Decisions for any future special school planning is reviewed and developed

7. The Outcome of that review should also identify an appropriate balance between 
provision in specialist schools, special units within mainstream schools and 
mainstream institutions with particular reference to:

a. promoting learning equity in mainstream settings by delivering resourced 
support for SEND pupils (Reception to Y14).

b. Reducing expansionary pressure in SEND /Alternative provision by utilising 
surplus capacity within the mainstream estate; 

c. Developing improved guidelines for SEND Education Health Care Plan 
assessment to ensure that plans reflect national norms;

d. Review and reassess alternative provision arrangements.

8. Council earmarks sufficient Community Infrastructure Levy funds to complete crucial 
school maintenance and capital projects. 

9. The council should consider innovative ways of revitalising the school estate.

10. The Borough’s Capital Board School Regeneration Programme should be 
cognoscente of this strategy.

This Strategy will be revised periodically as the impact of proposed development in the 
regeneration areas, and other demand drivers are confirmed.

Page 72



41

Steve Miley

Director of Children’s Services

Christine Edwards

Principal Officer School Place 
Planning

Page 73



42

Appendix 1: LBHF School Map

Page 74



43

Appendix 2: Nursery, Primary Secondary, Special and AP Map Reference Key

School Status DfE Number Postcode Key N/S

Addison 2052002 W14 0DT 1 S

All Saints 2053300 SW6 6ED 2 S

Ark Bentworth Academy Converter 2052045 W12 7AJ 3 N

Ark Burlington Danes Primary Academy 2056905 W12 0HR 1 N

Ark Conway Academy Academy 2052000 W12 0QT 4 N

Ark Swift Academy Converter 2052003 W12 7PT 5 N

Avonmore 2052026 W14 8SH 6 S

Brackenbury 2052061 W6 0BA 7 S

Earls Court Free School Free School 2052004 W6 0LB 8 S

Flora Gardens 2052223 W6 0UD 9 S

Fulham (Brightwells Multi Academy Trust) MAT Converter 2052286 SW6 1JU 10 S

Good Shepherd RC 2053602 W12 9BY 11 N

Greenside (GGL Elliot Foundation MAT) Converter 2052913 W12 9PT 12 N

Holy Cross RC 2053354 SW6 4BL 13 S

John Betts 2053368 W6 0UA 14 S

Kenmont 2052350 NW10 6AL 15 N

Langford 2052367 SW6 2LG 16 S

Larmenier & SH RC 2053649 W6 7BL 17 S

Lena Gardens (GGL Elliot Foundation MAT) Converter 2052383 W6 7PZ 18 S

Melcombe 2052408 W6 9ER 19 S

Miles Coverdale 2052134 W12 8JJ 20 N

Normand Croft Community 2053650 W14 9PA 21 S

Old Oak 2052444 W12 0AS 22 N

Queen's Manor (Brightwells MAT) MAT Converter 2052484 SW6 6ND 23 S

Sir John Lillie 2052555 SW6 7LN 24 S

St Augustine's RC 2053378 W6 8QE 25 S

St John XXIII Catholic School 2053645 W12 7QR 26 N

St John’s Walham Green C of E 2053463 SW6 6AS 27 S

St Mary's 2053529 W14 0LT 28 S

St Paul's C of E 2053566 W6 9BP 29 S

St Peter's C of E 2053578 W6 9BA 30 S

St Stephen's C of E 2053600 W12 8LH 31 N

St Thomas of Canterbury 2053648 SW6 7HB 32 S

Sulivan (Brightwells MAT) MAT Converter 2052577 SW6 3BN 33 S

Thomas’s Academy Converter 2052309 SW6 4LY 34 S

Wendell Park 2052632 W12 9LB 35 N

WLFS Primary Free School 2052001 W6 0DT 36 S

Pr
im

ar
y

Wormholt Park 2052660 W12 0SR 37 N

Page 75



44

Appendix 2: Nursery, Primary, Secondary, Special and AP Map Reference Key cont.

Phase Status DfE 
Number Postcode Key N/S

Bayonne Nursery 2051059 W6 8PF 1 S
James Lee Nursery 2051056 W14 9BH 2 S
Randolph Beresford 2051034 W12 7PH 3 NN

ur
se

ry

Vanessa Nursery 2051039 W12 9JA 4 N
Ark Burlington Danes Academy (3-18) Converter 2056905 W12 0HR 1 N
Fulham Boys’ Free School Free School 2054001 W14 9LY 2 S
Fulham College Boys' Converter 2054106 SW6 6SN 3 S
Fulham Cross Girls' Converter 2054315 SW6 6BP 4 S
Hammersmith Academy Academy 2056906 W12 9JD 5 N
Hurlingham Academy* Converter 2054319 SW6 3ED 6 S
Lady Margaret Converter 2054632 SW6 4UN 7 S
London Oratory Converter 2055400 SW6 1RX 8 S
Phoenix High School Converter 2054314 W12 0RG 9 N
Sacred Heart High School Converter 2054620 W6 7DG 10 N

Se
co

nd
ar

y

West London Free School Free School 2054000 W6 0LB 11 N
Cambridge 2057204 W12 0SP 1 N
Jack Tizard 2057203 W12 7PA 2 N
Queensmill 2057014 W14 9LY 3 NSp

ec
ia

l

Woodlane High School 2057153 W12 0TN 4 N
Bridge AP Academy Converter 2051101 SW6 6HB 1 S
Courtyard Primary AP Academy Converter 2051106 SW6 2LG 2 SAP
Westside AP Free School 2056394 W6 0LT 3 S
The Bridge 16 – 19 AP Academy Converter 2054003 SW6 6HB 1 S16 

Plus William Morris 6th Form 2054320 W6 8RB 1 S

Page 76



45

Appendix 3: Primary Place Applications PA1 North

Resident Applications
All PreferencesPrimary PA1

NORTH
Ofsted 

Judgment PAN Apps per 
School

Apps per 
place Apps %

Apps
Ark Bentworth Nov-14 G 30 59 2 53 89.8
Ark Burlington Danes Dec-18 RI 60 126 2.1 94 74.6
Ark Conway Jul-13 O 30 116 3.9 100 86.2
Ark Swift May-16 G 60 55 .9 52 94.5
Good Shepherd Apr-14 O 30 127 4.2 93 73.2
Greenside Oct-14 G 30 143 4.8 131 91.6
Kenmont Nov-17 G 30 75 2.5 8 10.7
Miles Coverdale Feb-13 O 30 134 4.5 128 95.5
Old Oak Mar-18 G 60 66 1.1 52 78.8
St John XXIII May-08 O 60 86 1.4 83 96.5
St Stephen's May-11 O 60 243 4.1 220 90.5
Wendell Park May-17 G 60 159 2.7 110 69.2
Wormholt Park Feb-17 G 60 125 2.1 117 93.6

Total 600 1,514 2.5 1,241 82
PAN Published Admissions Number

Primary PA1
NORTH

Total Places 
Offered Offers to Residents 

%
Offers to 
Residents

Ark Bentworth 24 19 79.2
Ark Burlington Danes 60 44 73.3
Ark Conway 30 27 90
Ark Swift 30 28 93.3
Good Shepherd 30 22 73.3
Greenside (Eliot Foundation MAT) 30 28 93.3
Kenmont 30 7 23.3
Miles Coverdale 30 29 96.7
Old Oak 31 27 87.1
St John XXIII 49 48 98
St Stephen's 60 58 96.7
Wendell Park 60 43 71.7
Wormholt Park 60 56 93.3

Total 524 436 83.2
PAN Published Admissions Number

Page 77



46

Appendix 4: Primary Place Applications PA2 South

Resident Apps
All PreferencesPrimary PA2

SOUTH Ofsted Judgment PAN
Apps 
per 

School

Apps 
per 

place Apps % Apps
Addison Jun-16 G 60 89 1.5 80 89.9
All Saints Mar-16 G 30 147 4.9 144 98
Avonmore Oct-16 G 30 66 2.2 49 74.2
Brackenbury Jan-09 O 60 244 4.1 233 95.5
Earl's Court Free School Jun-17 O 30 217 7.2 182 83.9
Flora Gardens Apr-17 G 30 88 2.9 79 89.8
Fulham (Brightwells MAT) Sep-12 G 60 96 1.6 88 91.7
Fulham Bilingual School Sep-15 G 28 142 5.1 135 95.1
Holy Cross Sep-15 G 60 161 2.7 152 94.4
John Betts Jun-07 O 30 292 9.7 259 88.7
Langford Academy converter 45 51 1.1 47 92.2
Larmenier & Sacred Heart Feb-15 O 60 174 2.9 154 88.5
Lena Gardens (Eliot Foundation MAT) Feb-17 G 30 66 2.2 61 92.4
Melcombe Sep-13 O 60 122 2.0 114 93.4
Normand Croft Nov-16 RI 30 63 2.1 58 92.1
Queen's Manor (Brightwells MAT) May-12 G 30 71 2.4 70 98.6
Sir John Lillie Apr-16 G 60 97 1.6 92 94.8
St. Augustine's Catholic Jan-07 O 30 131 4.4 125 95.4
St. John's Jun-17 G 60 174 2.9 172 98.9
St. Mary's Catholic Nov-14 G 30 112 3.7 106 94.6
St. Paul's Apr-15 O 30 74 2.5 71 95.9
St. Peter's Mar-17 G 30 132 4.4 85 64.4
St. Thomas Dec-13 G 60 82 1.4 80 97.6
Sulivan (Brightwells MAT) Mar-15 G 45 93 2.1 91 97.8
Thomas's Academy Mar-18 G 30 180 6 175 97.2
WLFS (Primary) May-15 O 30 368 6.1 305 82.9

Total 1,108 3,532 3.2 3,207 90.8
PAN Published Admissions Number

Page 78



47

Primary PA2
SOUTH

Reception Cohort
(Places)

Places Offered to 
Residents 

%
Places Offered to 

Residents
Addison 32 28 87.5
All Saints 29 29 100
Avonmore 30 25 83.3
Brackenbury 59 59 100
Earls Court Primary (WLFS) 30 21 70
Flora Gardens 30 29 96.7
Fulham (Brightwells MAT) 60 39 65
Fulham Bilingual School 28 27 96.4
Holy Cross 60 60 100
John Betts 30 30 100
Langford 45 33 73.3
Larmenier & Sacred Heart 59 59 100
Lena Gardens 19 15 78.9
Melcombe 58 54 93.1
Normand Croft 30 30 100
Queen's Manor (Brightwells MAT) 30 30 100
Sir John Lillie 43 42 97.7
St Augustine's 30 29 96.7
St John's Walham Green 60 59 98.3
St Mary's 30 29 96.7
St Paul's 29 29 100
St Peter's 30 22 73.3
St Thomas of Canterbury 30 28 93.3
Sulivan (Brightwells MAT) 44 43 97.7
Thomas Academy 30 30 100
WLFS (Primary) 60 53 88.3

Total 1,015 932 91.8
PAN Published Admissions Number

Page 79



48

Appendix 5: Secondary Place Applications

2018
Secondary

Offers to Residents

Y7 Cohort*
(Places)

Places Offered 
to Residents 

%
Places Offers to 

Residents
Ark Burlington Danes 180 113 63%
Fulham Boys’ 115 84 73%
Fulham College Boys' 120 74 62%
Fulham Cross Girls' 135 113 84%
Hammersmith Academy 140 127 91%
Hurlingham Academy 214 131 61%
Lady Margaret 119 65 55%
London Oratory School 158 15 9%
Phoenix Academy 184 128 70%
Sacred Heart 198 52 26%
West London Free School 125 84 67%

Total 1,556 986 63.4%
*132 additional Y7 places have been set aside for pupils with a SEND. Actual Y7 total 1,668

Resident Applications
All Preferences

Y7 Cohort 
Secondary 2018

LBHF
Ofsted8 Judgment PAN Apps per 

School 
Apps per 

place 
Apps % Apps 

Ark Burlington Danes Dec-18 RI 180 777 4.3 336 43%

Fulham Boys’ May-17 G 120 465 3.9 250 54%

Fulham College Boys' Feb-18 G 120 124 1 87 70%

Fulham Cross Girls' Sep-09 O 125 353 2.8 228 65%

Hammersmith Academy Mar-17 G 120 793 6.6 517 65%

Hurlingham Academy Oct-17 G 150 233 1.6 184 79%

Lady Margaret Sep-11 O 120 794 6.6 331 42%

London Oratory Mar-09 O 160 973 6.1 151 16%

Phoenix Academy N/A 150 137 .9 96 70%

Sacred Heart Sep-17 O 198 866 4.4 194 22%

West London Free School May-17 G 130 1,368 10.5 673 49%

Total 1,573 6,883 4.4 3,047 44%
PAN: Published Admissions Number 

8 Ofsted Judgment: O – Outstanding, G – Good, RI – Requires Improvement, I - Inadequate

Page 80



49

Appendix 6: Planned School Place Proposals by Neighbouring Boroughs

The adjustments to GLA School Roll Projections due to irregularities in official ONS 
estimates since 2011 have affected all London boroughs.  Previous GLA school roll 
projections forecast a shortfall of places at both primary and secondary phase for many 
boroughs across London.  However, since identifying irregularities in the official ONS 
figures the GLA has adjusted its methodologies and generated new sets of projections 
which for some London LAs are lower than previously forecast.  

Brent

Primary Places

Following unprecedented growth in demand for primary school places across in Brent from 
2008-2015, demand for Reception places across the Borough plateaued in September 
2016.  The January 2017 GLA projections indicated that demand for Reception would 
reduce for 3 years before recovering to near 2017 levels in 2021.  The latest GLA primary 
projections (based on the school census of January 2018) follow a similar trend, but 
forecast an increase in demand a year later in 2022/23.  The reduction in Reception entry 
year on year is underpinned by lower birth rates in Brent and reflects a change in 
assumptions about migration patterns within the GLA forecasting model.  While there are 
sufficient primary school places across the borough to satisfy forecast demand, spare 
places are not evenly distributed across the Borough.

Secondary Places

Brent has traditionally been a net exporter of secondary pupils.  In part this is due to 
proximity to other boroughs and in part to the fact that three of our secondary schools 
have not been popular with parents, who historically have expressed a preference for 
schools outside of Brent. However, all three schools are now judged Good by Ofsted.  The 
GLA projections reflect the percentage of children who historically move from Year 6 to 
Year 7 in the following academic year. As parental preference patterns change, this could 
impact on future demand for individual schools.

Ealing

Primary Places:

We therefore expect to have sufficient capacity to meet demand over the five-year 
projection period, with an increasing number of surplus places (projected to be 17.3% in 
reception based on the current PAN and 14.7% across R-Y6 based on the latest net 
capacity calculations by the end of the projection period).  We will continue to work closely 
with our schools to manage this projected surplus.

Secondary Places:

Ealing expect school places to be sufficient to meet demand in September 2018.  
Expansion programmes in Southall and Ealing have delivered 6FE additional places since 
2012.  Two new secondary free schools have delivered 6FE in GNP and 4FE in Ealing and 
a further 2FE expansion in Greenford in 2018 will increase capacity.  Delays in securing 

Page 81



50

permanent sites for two free schools will result in an expected a shortfall in 2019.  If both 
free schools open with full planned roll in September 2020, then there will be sufficient 
capacity to meet demand based on the latest projections.

Hounslow

Whilst currently we are not proposing to increase capacity further at either primary or 
secondary, we will need to continue to monitor places particularly considering a substantial 
increase to Hounslow’s housing targets outlined in the new London Plan.

Primary:

Hounslow’s SRP projections adjusted in June slightly improved against capacity as far as 
predicted surplus, but it hasn’t affected the strategy we’ve adopted of agreeing with the 
headteachers of each Primary Planning Area a rolling programme of temporary reductions 
for Reception from 2018 to 2021.

Secondary:

Termly meetings with Secondary headteachers were initially established to manage the 
predicted growth emerging from primary.  However, given the scale of growth across 
London being addressed through existing expansions and free schools, we currently use 
these meetings to monitor existing/planned capacity against an ever-changing demand.

Other Expansion Programmes

Existing Hounslow projects that have yet to be built are an SEN free school for SEMH 
secondary children and “Reach 2” all-through free school; both have sites allocated but 
timelines have yet to be confirmed.

Kensington and Chelsea

Primary Places

Primary projections – The current 2018 GLA pupil projections indicate the continuation of 
demand declining with a surplus capacity increasing in both the north and south of the 
borough by 2022.  This trend is set to remain stable for a further 10 years.  The surplus 
of places is currently greater in the north of the borough at 11%.  Interim and informal 
measures are to temporarily cap admissions numbers for schools that have falling rolls 
and are either a one and half or two Form Entry - capped to a one Form Entry.  This 
measure can be reversed at any point but is intended to support schools financially in the 
resourcing of class organisation.  The middle to south of the borough has fewer spare 
places currently and the surplus remains at a comfortable level of 5%.

Secondary Places

There is currently a 5% surplus across the primary sector. The current 2018 GLA pupil 
projections show an increase in demand from 2020 which peaks by 2023/24 leaving 
Kensington & Chelsea with a 4% deficit. Whilst there is a projected decline from this point, 
the surplus only ranges between 1-3% which is not sufficient to meet the demand for 
places.  The Council will need to consider reasonable and feasible options to meet this 

Page 82



51

projected but potentially time-limited period of deficit.  Such options will be bulge classes, 
or a modest permanent expansion of a school that allows the flexibility for multi-
educational usage when/if demand reduces significantly. These projections do not allow 
for future housing developments which are not yet approved. The forecast may change 
significantly and present a greater deficit once new housing is agreed and the ‘child yield’ 
is calculated. 

Richmond and Twickenham

School place planning provision is set out over 5 years 2017 to 2022.

Primary Places

LB Richmond and Twickenham is divided into 10 planning areas PA1 to PA5 in the west of 
the borough and PA6 – PA10 to the east.  The need for primary places has declined since 
demand peaked in 2013 and 2014.  Overall the borough has capacity to meet demand 
across all 10 planning areas.

Secondary Places

At the start of the 2017/18 academic year, 4 out of the 11 secondary schools in the 
borough had a combined total of 180 surplus places.  In the west of the borough, three 
new schools have added 450 new places since 2013 which should have enabled enough 
capacity to absorb demand in the west of the borough until the end of the decade.  
However, the need for additional secondary places in the east has increased at a faster 
rate than was previously forecast, and a new secondary school is required in the medium 
term.  To meet this need, Livingstone Academy, a Wave 10 free school approved to open 
in Tower Hamlets, has been approved to relocate to Mortlake and is expected to open in 
2021.

Wandsworth

Primary Places

Over the next 3 years the numbers will continue to decline, in 2020-21 it will start to rise 
again towards 2016-17 levels. We have sufficient places across the borough and are not 
planning to add any significant additional provision except in the Nine Elms area where a 
massive development project (over 10,000 homes) is being built. We are monitoring the 
situation and have the potential to open a new school if needed.

Secondary Places

Over the next 5 years we are expecting a significant increase in numbers, peaking in 2022-
23. We are proposing to add 5FE in terms of permanent capacity with the possibility of 
bulge classes as needed. 

Page 83



52

Westminster

Primary Places

Primary projections – The current 2018 GLA pupil projections indicate the continuation of 
demand declining with a surplus capacity increasing across the borough, potentially 
peaking at 21.5% by 2022. The current and projected surplus takes account of action 
taken to reduce the significant surplus of places. This consists pf a school closure, a school 
merger, a formal reduction of PANs and temporary reductions with agreement from 
schools. Considerations and decisions, supported by the Council, will need to be made by 
Governing Bodies, Diocesan Bodies, and associated Academy sponsors regarding the 
future options for some primary school provision.  These often might include further 
permanent reductions to the PAN for some primary schools - PAN of 2FE or 1.5FE to 1FE, 
sharing resources, including staffing and facilities between schools. 

Secondary Places

Secondary projections - The current 2018 GLA pupil projections show a continued 
increase in demand with a 4% deficit by 2023. Whilst there is a projected gradual 
decline from this point until 2028, the surplus is not likely to be sufficient to meet 
the demand for places, allowing for new arrivals and general mobility. In addition to the 
current secondary expansion programme, involving four schools, which was agreed in 
principle by Cabinet in 2015.  The Council will need to consider further reasonable and 
feasible options to meet this projected but potentially time-limited period of deficit.  Such 
options will be bulge classes, or a modest permanent expansion of a school that allows 
the flexibility for multi-educational usage when/if demand reduces significantly. These 
projections do not allow for future housing developments which are not yet approved. The 
forecast may change significantly and present a greater deficit once new housing is agreed 
and the ‘child yield’ is calculated.

Page 84



53

Appendix 7: Glossary: Definition of schools (GOV.uk)

Overview
All children in England between the ages of 5 and 18 are entitled to a free place at a state 
school.  Most state schools should follow the national curriculum. The most common types 
are:

 Community Schools, controlled by the local council and not influenced by 
business or religious groups.

 Foundation Schools, with more freedom to change the way they do things than 
community schools.

 Faith Schools, follow the national curriculum but are free to only teach about their 
own religion in religious studies.

 Academies and Free Schools, run by a governing body are independent from 
the local council - and can follow a different curriculum.

 Grammar Schools, run by the council, a foundation body, or a trust - they select 
all or most of their pupils based on academic ability and there is often an entrance 
exam.

Forms of Entry (FE)
Forms of entry are the number of classes, made up of 30 pupil places, available each 
September at Reception intake and Y7.  

A 1FE primary school will admit 30 children into one Reception class.  It has a maximum 
210 pupils on roll: 30 pupils in each year group Reception to Y6 (30*7).  A 2FE primary 
would admit 60 into two Reception classes (60*7) a 3FE 90 into 3 classes (90*7) and so on.  

A standard secondary school will admit 6FE based on the same pupil ratio as primary 
therefore 6 classes of 30 pupils or 180 pupils in Y7.  A 6FE secondary school has a maximum 
900 pupils on roll: 180 pupils in each year group Y7 to Y11 (180*5). 

Community Schools
A community school in England and Wales is a type of state-funded school in which the local 
education authority (LEA) employs the school's staff, is responsible for the school's 
admissions and owns the school's estate.

Foundation Schools
Foundation schools are run by an elected governing body, which has authority over what 
happens inside the school. The governing body not only employs the staff and sets 
admissions criteria it can also own the land on which the school is situated as well as its 
buildings.  In most cases the land is owned by a charity (or charitable foundation).

Faith Schools
There are many different types of Faith schools, e.g. voluntary aided; free schools or 
academies.  Each will be associated with its religion.  Faith schools are run like other state 
schools in that they follow the national curriculum except for religious studies, where they 
are free to only teach about their own religion.  Anyone can apply for a place if the school’s 
admissions criteria are met.

Page 85



54

Free Schools
Free schools are run on a not-for-profit basis and can be set up by businesses education 
bodies, parents and charitable organisations and are funded by the government 
independently of the local council. They don’t have to follow the national curriculum and 
have more control over how the school is operated.  Free schools offer ‘all-ability’ places, 
so are not able to use academic selection processes like a grammar school.

Academies
Academies are publicly funded independent schools.  Academies don’t have to follow the 
national curriculum and can set their own term times. They still must follow the same 
protocols relating to admissions, special educational needs, and exclusions as other state 
schools.

Trust Schools
Trust schools have evolved from Foundation schools, in that they have developed a 
partnership, known as a charitable trust, with an outside body.  Although Trust schools are 
still funded by the state, the land and buildings used by the school will be owned by either 
the governing body, or the charitable trust.

Special Schools
Special schools with pupils aged 11 and older can specialise in 1 of 4 areas of special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND):

 communication and interaction
 cognition and learning
 social, emotional, and mental health
 sensory and physical needs

Schools can further specialise within these categories to reflect the special needs such as 
Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD), Visual Impairment (VI)or Speech, Language, and 
Communication Needs (SLCN).

City Technology Colleges
City Technology Colleges are independent schools in urban areas that are free to attend. 
CTCs are owned and funded by companies as well as central government and have an 
emphasis on technological and practical skills.

University Technical Colleges
University Technical Colleges (UTC) are regional, non-fee paying, employer and university 
sponsor led secondary provision for students aged 14-18 years old.  UTCs will focus on at 
least one of the following technical specialism subjects; Science, Technology, Engineering 
and Maths (STEM).

State Boarding Schools
State boarding schools provide free education but charge fees for boarding.  Local councils 
run some state boarding schools, and some are run as academies or free schools.

Private Schools
Private schools (also known as ‘independent schools’) charge fees to attend instead of being 
funded by the government. Pupils don’t have to follow the national curriculum.  All private 
schools must be registered with the government and are inspected regularly.  There are also 
private schools which specialise in teaching children with special educational needs. 

Page 86



School Organisation Strategy

P
age 87



• Strategic plan outlining how school places are organised across the 

borough, including school roll projections.  

• The School Organisation Strategy isn’t statutory or compulsory – it’s a 

sensible and practical way to make sure that we have the right amount of 

school places now and for the future.  

What is a school organisation strategy?

• Ensure there is a school place for every child that needs one - means 

regardless of residence we have a duty to provide a primary or secondary 

school place as required.

• Linking Growth and Development and changes in demography to needs.

P
age 88



GLA, SRP and surplus places

• Greater London Authority (GLA) datasets include - population: households: 

ethnicity: economic activity: sets are updated annually, incorporating the 

latest data from Office for National Statistics (ONS) and other sources as it 

becomes available. 

• We subscribe to GLA Demography – to generate our School Roll Projections 

(SRP).

• The replacement method is used to forecast the number of children 

anticipated in each age (year) group over time.  4 year olds are Reception 

class, 5 year olds Y1 and so on at primary.  11 year olds will be Y7 at 

secondary.

P
age 89



Replacement method

P
age 90



School roll projections

• About 18 months ago the GLA noticed irregularities with their projection model 

for SRP.   

• A miscalculation in the ONS mid year estimates for internal migration 

(population movement across London boroughs) meant their internal migration 

model was counting inward internal migration but not counting outward internal 

migration.  

• This miscalculation skewed the GLA projections which were passed on to us in 

our SRP.  

P
age 91



Primary school roll projections

Difference

PAN minus SRP

2019 3,915 3,347 568 (17.0% surplus)

2020 4,035 3,379 656 (19.4% surplus)

2021 4,125 3,435 690 (20.1% surplus)

2022 4,215 3,473 742 (21.4% surplus)

2023 4,245 3,543 702 (19.8% surplus)

Year
School 

Places
SRP

Difference

PAN minus SRP

2019 7,876 6,324 1,552 (24.5% surplus)

2020 7,951 6,254 1,697 (27.1% surplus)

2021 7,966 6,187 1,779 (28.8% surplus)

2022 7,966 6,142 1,824 (29.7% surplus)

2023 7,966 6,119 1,827 (30.2% surplus)

Year SRP
School 

Places

P
age 92



Secondary school roll projections

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

9,000

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Secondary Roll Projections

School Places SRP

Year
School 

Places
SRP

Difference 

School Places 

minus SRP

2019 8,019 7,173 846 (11.8% surplus)

2020 8,022 7,270 752 (10.3% surplus)

2021 8,025 7,356 669 (9.1% surplus)

2022 8,025 7,476 549 (7.3% surplus)

2023 8,025 7,546 479 (6.3% surplus)

P
age 93



School Financial Viability

P
age 94



Emerging themes and recommendations

1. Address primary surplus, reduce PAN, collaborative approaches.

2. Secondary provision nurtures and develops education based relationships 

- Industrial Strategy.

3. Revive and restore the unique appeal of local schools. 

4. Federation and collaboration approaches.

5. Use school organisation strategy evidence base to respond to planning 

proposals. 

6. Further work on Special Educational Need and Disabilities (SEND) and 

Alternative Provision (AP) place planning linked to need.

7. Balance between provision in specialist schools, special units within 

mainstream schools and mainstream institutions.

8. Use future Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to invest in school 

buildings and regeneration of school estate through development.

P
age 95


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 School Performance Report 2018
	Appendix 1 - LBHF Primary Schools Headline Data 2018
	Primary Schools Dashboard

	Appendix 2 - LBHF Secondary Schools KS4 and KS5 Headline Data 2018
	Appendix 3 - LBHF Ofsted Gradings 2019

	5 School Organisation Strategy 2019
	Appendix 1 - Draft School Organisation Strategy 2019
	Appendix 2 - School Organisation Strategy Thematic Presentation


